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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,578 and $1,344, respectively
Income tax receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Investment in direct financing lease
Goodwill
Other assets
Non-current assets of discontinued operations

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income tax payable
Distributions payable
Current portion of long-term debt
Current liabilities of discontinued operations

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Preferred stock — $0.01 par value; 50,000 shares authorized:
Series A — 300 and 4,300 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2003 and
December 31, 2002, respectively; stated at liquidation preference of $25.00 per share
Series B — 962 and 4,408 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2003 and
December 31, 2002, respectively; stated at liquidation preference of $24.46 per share
Common stock — $0.01 par value; 80,000 shares authorized; 35,029 and 27,986 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,
2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation
Retained deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

September 30, December 31,
2003 2002
$ 68,943 $ 65,406
12,796 7,363
139,478 119,197
59 32,499
6,949 12,299
1,158 17,583
229,383 254,347
1,580,571 1,551,781
17,907 18,346
20,294 20,902
35,562 28,211
— 484
$1,883,717 $1,874,071
$ 155,534 $ 151,516
3,600 3,685
150 5,330
2,914 23,054
1,690 2,381
163,888 185,966
1,004,128 932,905
21,817 21,202
1,189,833 1,140,073
7,500 107,500
23,528 107,831
350 280
1,439,587 1,343,066
(1,913) (1,604)
(774,348) (822,111)
(820) (964)
693,884 733,998
$1,883,717 $1,874,071

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002
REVENUE:
Management and other $262,486 $238,558 $765,080 $692,945
Rental 945 884 2,797 2,781
263,431 239,442 767,877 695,726
EXPENSES:
Operating 199,654 183,351 575,455 537,341
General and administrative 9,819 8,127 29,366 23,662
Depreciation and amortization 13,157 13,268 39,106 37,893
222,630 204,746 643,927 598,896
OPERATING INCOME 40,801 34,696 123,950 96,830
OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE:
Equity in (earnings) loss of joint venture (88) 90 (44) 63
Interest expense, net 19,078 17,959 56,459 69,377
Expenses associated with debt refinancing and recapitalization transaction 2,552 — 6,687 36,670
Change in fair value of derivative instruments — 628 (2,900) (2,834)
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets (6) 6 (21) 57
Unrealized foreign currency transaction gain (49) (115) (199) (442)
21,487 18,568 59,982 102,891
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES
AND CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE 19,314 16,128 63,968 (6,061)
Income tax benefit (expense) (277) 375 (107) 33,263
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT
OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE 19,037 16,503 63,861 27,202
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (238) (1,692) 1,897
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (80,276)
NET INCOME (LOSS) 19,037 16,265 62,169 (51,177)
Distributions to preferred stockholders (836) (5,292) (14,406) (15,574)
NET INCOME (LOSS) AVAILABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS $ 18,201 $ 10,973 $ 47,763 $(66,751)
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 053 $ 041 $ 157 $ 042
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (0.01) (0.05) 0.07
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.90)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 053 $ 040 $ 152 $ (241
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 047 $ 037 $ 141 $ 040
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (0.01) (0.05) 0.07
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.78)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 047 $ 0.36 $ 136 $ (231

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

For the Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2003 2002
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $ 62,169 $ (51,177)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 40,180 40,834
Amortization of debt issuance costs and other non-cash interest 5,707 10,436
Expenses associated with debt refinancing and recapitalization transactions 6,687 36,670
Cumulative effect of accounting change — 80,276
Deferred and other non-cash income taxes — (1,464)
Equity in (earnings) loss of joint venture (44) 63
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets (32) 77
Change in fair value of derivative instruments (2,900) (2,834)
Unrealized foreign currency transaction gain (199) (442)
Other non-cash items 1,717 1,932
Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
Accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets 1,019 5,392
Income tax receivable 32,440 —
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 11,037 5,531
Income tax payable (85) (3,132)
Net cash provided by operating activities 157,696 122,162
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Expenditures for acquisitions and development (48,332) (3,075)
Expenditures for other capital improvements (22,355) (8,826)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash (5,433) 5,199
Proceeds from sale of assets 43 4,570
Increase in other assets (107) (1,679)
Payments received on direct financing lease and notes receivable 848 425
Net cash used in investing activities (75,336) (3,386)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of debt 482,250 890,000
Scheduled principal repayments (7,352) (12,575)
Other principal repayments (383,766) (878,938)
Payment of debt issuance and other refinancing and related costs (18,561) (35,438)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 124,800 —
Stock issuance costs (7,724) (21)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 986 303
Purchase and retirement of common stock (65,622) —
Purchase and redemption of preferred stock (191,984) (354)
Payment of dividends (11,850) (17,381)
Payment to terminate interest rate swap agreement — (8,847)
Net cash used in financing activities (78,823) (63,251)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,537 55,525
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period 65,406 46,307
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period $ 68,943 $ 101,832
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized of $14 in 2003 $ 51,544 $ 49,728

Income taxes $ 1,729 $ 4,110

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2003
(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Series A Series B
Preferred Preferred Common Additional
Stock Stock Stock Paid-in Capital

Balance as of December 31, 2002 $ 107,500 $107,831 $280 $1,343,066
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — —

Change in fair value of interest rate cap — — — —
Total comprehensive income — — — —
Distributions to preferred stockholders — 7,736 — —
Issuance of common stock, net — — 64 117,040
Retirement of series B preferred stock — (347) — —
Redemption of preferred stock (100,000) (91,637) — —
Conversion of subordinated notes — — 34 39,512
Repurchase of common stock — — (34) (65,588)
Warrants exercised — — 1 —
State stockholder litigation settlement — — 3 3,051
Amortization of deferred compensation, net of forfeitures — (55) — (72)
Restricted stock grant — — 1 1,594
Stock options exercised — — 1 984
Balance as of September 30, 2003 $ 7,500 $ 23,528 $350 $1,439,587

[Additional columns below]
[Continued from above table, first column(s) repeated]
Accumulated
Other
Deferred Retained Comprehensive
Compensation Deficit Income (Loss) Total

Balance as of December 31, 2002 $(1,604) $(822,111) $(964) $ 733,998
Comprehensive income:

Net income — 62,169 — 62,169

Change in fair value of interest rate cap — — 144 144
Total comprehensive income — 62,169 144 62,313
Distributions to preferred stockholders — (14,406) — (6,670)
Issuance of common stock, net — — — 117,104
Retirement of series B preferred stock — — — (347)
Redemption of preferred stock — — — (191,637)
Conversion of subordinated notes — — — 39,546
Repurchase of common stock — — — (65,622)
Warrants exercised — — — 1
State stockholder litigation settlement — — — 3,054
Amortization of deferred compensation, net of forfeitures 1,286 — — 1,159
Restricted stock grant (1,595) — — —
Stock options exercised — — — 985
Balance as of September 30, 2003 $(1,913) $(774,348) $(820) $ 693,884

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2002
(UNAUDITED AND AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Series A Series B
Preferred Preferred Common Additional
Stock Stock Stock Paid-in Capital
Balance as of December 31, 2001 $107,500 $ 96,566 $279 $1,341,958
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net loss — — — —
Change in fair value of interest rate cap — — —
Amortization of transition adjustment — — — —
Total comprehensive income (loss) — — — —
Distributions to preferred stockholders — 8,752 — —
Conversion of subordinated notes — — 1 1,113
Amortization of deferred compensation, net of forfeitures — (167) — (201)
Stock issuance costs — — — (21)
Stock options exercised — — — 303
Retirement of treasury stock — — (242)
Retirement of series B preferred stock — (402) — 48
Balance as of September 30, 2002 $107,500 $104,749 $280 $1,342,958
[Additional columns below]
[Continued from above table, first column(s) repeated]
Accumulated
Other
Deferred Retained Treasury Comprehensive
Compensation Deficit Stock Income (Loss) Total
Balance as of December 31, 2001 $(3,153) $(793,236) $(242) $(2,511) $747,161
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net loss — (51,177) — — (51,177)
Change in fair value of interest rate cap — — — (870) (870)
Amortization of transition adjustment — — — 1,883 1,883
Total comprehensive income (loss) — (51,177) — 1,013 (50,164)
Distributions to preferred stockholders — (15,574) — — (6,822)
Conversion of subordinated notes — — — — 1,114
Amortization of deferred compensation, net of forfeitures 1,329 — — — 961
Stock issuance costs — — — — 21)
Stock options exercised — — — — 303
Retirement of treasury stock — — 242 — —
Retirement of series B preferred stock — — — — (354)
Balance as of September 30, 2002 $(1,824) $(859,987) $ — $(1,498) $692,178
I I — I I

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2003

1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS

As of September 30, 2003, Corrections Corporation of America, a Maryland corporation (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), owned 41 correctional, detention and
juvenile facilities, three of which are leased to other operators, and one additional facility which is not yet in operation. As of September 30, 2003, the Company operated 59
facilities with a total design capacity of approximately 59,000 beds in 20 states and the District of Columbia.

The Company specializes in owning, operating and managing prisons and other correctional facilities and providing inmate residential and prisoner transportation services for
governmental agencies. In addition to providing the fundamental residential services relating to inmates, the Company’s facilities offer a variety of rehabilitation and
educational programs, including basic education, religious services, life skills and employment training and substance abuse treatment. These services are intended to reduce
recidivism and to prepare inmates for their successful re-entry into society upon their release. The Company also provides health care (including medical, dental and
psychiatric services), food services and work and recreational programs.

The Company’s website address is www.correctionscorp.com. Please note that the Company’s address is provided as an inactive textual reference only. The Company makes
its Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, Form 8-K, and Section 16 reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), available on its website, free of
charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company without audit and, in the opinion of management, reflect all
normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of results for the unaudited interim periods presented. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally
included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted. The results of operations for the
interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results to be obtained for the full fiscal year. Reference is made to the audited financial statements of the Company included
in its Annual Report on Form 10-K as of and for the year ended December 31, 2002 (the “2002 Form 10-K”) and in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on July 24, 2003 (the “July 2003 Form 8-K”) with respect to certain significant accounting and financial reporting policies as well as other pertinent information of the
Company.

3. CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE
Effective January 1, 2002 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
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No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”), which established new accounting and reporting requirements for goodwill and other intangible assets. Under
SFAS 142, all goodwill amortization ceased effective January 1, 2002 and goodwill attributable to each of the Company’s reporting units was tested for impairment by
comparing the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying value. Fair value was determined using a collaboration of various common valuation techniques, including
market multiples, discounted cash flows, and replacement cost methods. These impairment tests are required to be performed at adoption of SFAS 142 and at least annually
thereafter. On an ongoing basis (absent any impairment indicators), the Company expects to perform its impairment tests during the fourth quarter, in connection with the
annual budgeting process.

Based on the Company’s initial impairment tests, the Company recognized an impairment of $80.3 million to write-off the carrying value of goodwill associated with the
Company’s locations included in the owned and managed reporting segment during the first quarter of 2002. This goodwill was established in connection with the acquisition
of Correctional Management Services Corporation, a privately-held operating company subsequently also known as Corrections Corporation of America (“Operating
Company”). The remaining goodwill, which is associated with the facilities the Company manages but does not own, was deemed to be not impaired. This remaining goodwill
was established in connection with the acquisitions of Prison Management Services, Inc. (“PMSI”) and Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, Inc. (“JJFMSI”), both
of which were privately held service companies that managed certain government-owned adult and juvenile prison and jail facilities. The implied fair value of goodwill of the
locations included in the owned and managed reporting segment did not support the carrying value of any goodwill, primarily due to its highly leveraged capital structure. No
impairment of goodwill allocated to the locations included in the managed-only reporting segment was deemed necessary, primarily because of the relatively minimal capital
expenditure requirements, and therefore indebtedness, in connection with obtaining such management contracts. Under SFAS 142, the impairment recognized at adoption of
the new rules was reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change in the Company’s statement of operations for the first quarter of 2002. Impairment adjustments
recognized after adoption, if any, are required to be recognized as operating expenses.

As aresult of the expiration, during the first quarter of 2003, of the Company’s contracts to manage the Okeechobee Juvenile Offender Correctional Center and the
Lawrenceville Correctional Center, as further described in Note 7, the Company recognized goodwill impairment charges of $268,000 and $340,000, respectively. These

charges are included in loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes, in the accompanying statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2003.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS 142, the Company also reassessed the useful lives and the classification of its identifiable intangible assets and liabilities and
determined that they continue to be appropriate. The components of the Company’s amortized intangible assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

7
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September 30, 2003 December 31, 2002
Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Contract acquisition costs $ 873 $ (815) $ 1,149 $(1,020)
Customer list 561 ®) 561 —
Contract values established in connection with certain business
combinations (35,688) 15,020 (38,049) 16,281
Total $(34,254) $14,197 $(36,339) $15,261

Contract acquisition costs and the customer list are included in other non-current assets, and contract values are included in other non-current liabilities in the accompanying
balance sheets. Amortization income, net of amortization expense, for intangible assets and liabilities during the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 was

$1.0 million and $0.4 million, respectively, while amortization income, net of amortization expense, for intangible assets and liabilities during the nine months ended
September 30, 2003 and 2002 was $2.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Estimated amortization income, net of amortization expense, for the remainder of 2003 and the
five succeeding fiscal years is as follows (in thousands):

2003 (remainder) $ (850)
2004 (3,405)
2005 (4,243)
2006 (4,572)
2007 (4,572)
2008 (4,572)

4. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44,
and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections” (“SFAS 145”). SFAS 145 rescinds Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 4,
“Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt” (“SFAS 4”), which required all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt to be aggregated and, if material,
classified as an extraordinary item, net of the related income tax effect. As a result, the criteria in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the
Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions”
(“APB 30”) will now be used to classify those gains and losses. The provisions of SFAS 145 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after

May 15, 2002, and interim periods within those fiscal years.

As further described in Note 8, during the second quarter of 2002, prior to the required adoption of SFAS 145, the Company reported an extraordinary charge of approximately
$36.7 million associated with the refinancing of the Company’s senior debt in May 2002. Under SFAS 145, any gain or loss on extinguishment of debt that was classified as an
extraordinary item in prior periods that does not meet the criteria in APB 30 for classification as an extraordinary item shall be reclassified. The Company adopted SFAS 145
on January 1, 2003. Accordingly, the extraordinary charge reported in the second quarter of 2002 was reclassified to a component of income (loss) from continuing operations
in the accompanying statement of
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operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”). FIN 46 clarifies the application of Accounting Research
Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or in which
equity investors do not bear the residual economic risks. The interpretation was immediately applicable to variable interest entities (“VIE’s”) created after January 31, 2003,
and to VIE’s in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. As originally issued, it applied in the fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, to VIE’s
in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that was acquired before February 1, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 46-6, which defers the
effective date for FIN 46 to the first interim or annual period ending after December 15, 2003 for VIE’s created before February 1, 2003.

The Company has determined that a joint venture, Agecroft Prison Management, Ltd. (“APM”), which was entered into by a wholly-owned subsidiary, is a VIE, of which the
Company is not the primary beneficiary. APM has a management contract for a correctional facility located in Salford, England. All gains and losses under the joint venture
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. During 2000, the Company extended a working capital loan to APM, which totaled $5.4 million, including accrued
interest, as of September 30, 2003. The outstanding working capital loan represents the Company’s maximum exposure to loss in connection with APM. APM has not been,
and in accordance with FIN 46 will not be, consolidated with the Company’s financial statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, “Amendment of SFAS No. 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
(“SFAS 149”). SFAS 149 amends and clarifies the accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging
activities under SFAS 133. SFAS 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003, and
should be applied prospectively. The provisions of SFAS 149 that relate to SFAS 133 implementation issues that have been effective for fiscal quarters that began prior to

June 15, 2003 should continue to be applied in accordance with their respective effective dates. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 149 to have a material
impact on its financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities
and Equity” (“SFAS 150”). This Statement establishes standards for classifying and measuring as liabilities certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer
and have characteristics of both liabilities and equity. Instruments that are indexed to and potentially settled in an issuer’s own shares that are not within the scope of SFAS
150 remain subject to existing guidance. SFAS 150 is effective for all freestanding financial instruments of public companies entered into or modified after May 31, 2003.
SFAS 150 became effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 150 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial statements.

5. ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
On December 31, 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
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148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”). SFAS 148 amends Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), to provide alternative methods of transition to SFAS 123’s fair value method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. SFAS 148 also amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123 and APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting” to require disclosure of the
effects of an entity’s accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee compensation on reported net income and earnings per share in annual and interim financial
statements. While SFAS 148 does not amend SFAS 123 to require companies to account for employee stock options using the fair value method, the disclosure provisions of
SFAS 148 are applicable to all companies with stock-based employee compensation, regardless of whether they account for the compensation using the fair value method of
SFAS 123 or the intrinsic value method of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”).

At September 30, 2003, the Company had equity incentive plans, which are described more fully in the 2002 Form 10-K (and the information incorporated therein by
reference) and the July 2003 Form 8-K. The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and measurement principles of APB 25. No employee compensation cost
for the Company’s stock options is reflected in net income, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common
stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003
and 2002 as if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based employee compensation:
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For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

(in thousands, except per share data)

As Reported:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change and after
preferred stock distributions $18,201 $11,211 $49,455 $ 11,628
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (238) (1,692) 1,897
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (80,276)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $18,201 $10,973 $47,763 $(66,751)
Pro Forma:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change and after
preferred stock distributions $16,616 $ 9,899 $44,432 $ 7,755
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (238) (1,692) 1,897
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (80,276)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $16,616 $ 9,661 $42,740 $(70,624)
As Reported:
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 0.53 $ 041 $ 157 $ 042
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (0.01) (0.05) 0.07
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.90)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 053 $ 040 $ 1.52 $ (241)
As Reported:
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 047 $ 0.37 $ 141 $ 040
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (0.01) (0.05) 0.07
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.78)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 047 $ 036 $ 136 $ (2.31)
Pro Forma:
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 048 $ 036 $ 141 $ 0.28
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (0.01) (0.05) 0.07
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.90)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 048 $ 0.35 $ 1.36 $ (2.55)
Pro Forma:
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 043 $ 033 $ 127 $ 026
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (0.01) (0.05) 0.07
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.78)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 043 $ 032 $ 122 $ (245)

The effect of applying SFAS 123 for disclosing compensation costs under such pronouncement may not be representative of the effects on reported net income (loss) available
to common stockholders for future years.

During the first nine months of 2003, the Company issued 94,500 shares of restricted common
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stock, which were valued at $1.6 million on the date of the awards. The restricted shares of common stock were granted to certain of the Company’s wardens. All of the shares
vest during 2006. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003, the Company expensed $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively, relating to the restricted
common stock.

6. FACILITY OPERATIONS

On January 17, 2003, the Company purchased the Crowley County Correctional Facility, a 1,200-bed medium security adult male prison facility located in Olney Springs,
Crowley County, Colorado, for a purchase price of approximately $47.5 million. The facility currently houses inmates from the States of Colorado and Wyoming. As part of
the transaction, the Company also assumed a management contract with the State of Colorado and entered into a new contract with the State of Wyoming, and took over
management of the facility effective January 18, 2003. The Company financed the purchase price through $30.0 million in borrowings under its New Senior Bank Credit
Facility, as defined in Note 8, pursuant to an expansion of the Term Loan B Facility, as also defined in Note 8, with the balance of the purchase price satisfied with cash on
hand.

In September 2003, the Company announced its intention to expand the Crowley County Correctional Facility by 624 beds. The anticipated cost of the expansion is
approximately $22 million and is estimated to be completed during the third quarter of 2004. Upon completion of the expansion, the facility will have a total design capacity
of 1,824 beds. The expansion is being undertaken in anticipation of increasing demand from the States of Colorado and Wyoming.

In June 2003, the Company secured a management contract with the State of Alabama to house up to 1,440 medium security inmates in its Tallahatchie County Correctional
Facility, located in Tutwiler, Mississippi. The facility began receiving inmates in July 2003. The contract is intended to be short-term in nature while Alabama prepares a
longer term Request for Proposal for this inmate population. Prior to receiving inmates from the State of Alabama, the Tallahatchie County Correctional Facility was
substantially idle.

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company transferred all of the Wisconsin inmates currently housed at its 1,440-bed medium security North Fork Correctional Facility
located in Sayre, Oklahoma to its 2,160-bed medium security Diamondback Correctional Facility located in Watonga, Oklahoma in order to satisfy a contractual provision
mandated by the State of Wisconsin. As a result of the transfer, North Fork Correctional Facility will remain closed for an indefinite period of time. The Company is currently
pursuing new management contracts and other opportunities to take advantage of the beds that became available at the North Fork Correctional Facility, but can provide no
assurance that it will be successful in doing so. The Company currently expects the operational consolidations to have no material impact on its 2003 financial statements.
However, long-term, the consolidation will result in certain operational efficiencies.

In September 2003, the Company announced its intention to complete construction of the Stewart County Correctional Facility located in Stewart County, Georgia. The
anticipated cost to complete the Stewart facility is approximately $19 million with completion estimated to occur during the third quarter of 2004. Construction on the 1,524

bed Stewart County Correctional Facility began in August 1999 and was suspended in May 2000. The Company’s
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decision to complete the project is based on anticipated demand from several government customers having a need for inmate bed capacity in the Southeast region of the
country. However, there can be no assurances that the Company will be successful in securing a management contract to utilize this facility.

In October 2003, the Company announced that the Department of Corrections in the State of Indiana entered into a new contract with the Company to manage up to 1,000
medium security male inmates. The eight-year contract will replace an existing contract between the Company and Indiana, retroactive to January 1, 2003. The Company
currently manages an Indiana population of approximately 650 inmates in its Otter Creek Correctional Center located in Wheelwright, Kentucky. The new contract provisions
are comparable to the Company’s existing contract with Indiana. The contract does not guarantee any inmates in addition to the number of inmates the Company currently
manages, nor does it guarantee that the Company will continue to manage the existing level of inmates.

In October 2003, the Company also announced a new contract with the Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement agency (“ICE”) for up to 905 detainees at its
Houston Processing Center located in Houston, Texas. In addition, the Company announced its intention to expand the facility by 494 beds from its current 411 beds to 905
beds. The anticipated cost of the expansion is approximately $29 million and is estimated to be completed during the first quarter of 2005. The expansion is being undertaken
in order to accommodate additional detainee populations that are anticipated as a result of this contract, which contains a guarantee that ICE will utilize 679 beds at such time
as the expansion is completed.

In November 2003, the Company announced that the Texas Department of Criminal Justice (“TDCJ”) awarded the Company contracts to manage a total of 8,315 beds in
seven state correctional facilities, one of which contains 1,001 beds that the Company currently manages, as part of a request for proposal (“RFP”).

The management contracts, all of which are expected to become effective mid-January, 2004, consist of five jails and two correctional institutions:

« Dawson State Jail — Dallas Texas 2,216 beds
« Bradshaw State Jail — Henderson, Texas 1,980 beds
 Willacy State Jail — Raymondsville, Texas 1,069 beds
* Lindsey State Jail — Jacksboro, Texas 1,031 beds
« Bartlett State Jail — Bartlett, Texas 1,001 beds
« Diboll Correctional Center — Diboll, Texas 518 beds
« B. M. Moore Correctional Center — Overton, Texas 500 beds

As part of this RFP, the TDCJ did not award the Company the contract for the continued management of a 1,000-bed correctional facility located in Venus, Texas, that the
Company currently operates. The Company expects to continue to manage this facility until mid-January, 2004.
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7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
(“SFAS 144”), which broadened the scope of defining discontinued operations. Under the provisions of SFAS 144, the identification and classification of a facility as held for
sale, or the termination of any of the Company’s management contracts for a managed-only facility, by expiration or otherwise, results in the classification of the operating
results of such facility, net of taxes, as a discontinued operation, so long as the financial results can be clearly identified, and so long as the Company does not have any
significant continuing involvement in the operations of the component after the disposal or termination transaction.

The results of operations, net of taxes, and the assets and liabilities of three correctional facilities and three juvenile facilities, one of which was owned by the Company and
operated by an independent third party operator, each as further described below, have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as discontinued
operations in accordance with SFAS 144 for all periods presented.

In late 2001 and early 2002, the Company was provided notice from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico of its intention to terminate the management contracts at the Ponce
Young Adult Correctional Facility and the Ponce Adult Correctional Facility, upon the expiration of the management contracts in February 2002. Attempts to negotiate
continued operation of these facilities were unsuccessful. As a result, the transition period to transfer operation of the facilities to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico ended
May 4, 2002, at which time operation of the facilities was transferred to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. The Company recorded a non-cash charge of approximately
$1.8 million during the second quarter of 2002 for the write-off of the carrying value of assets associated with the terminated management contracts.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company obtained an extension of its management contract with the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for the operation of the Guayama
Correctional Center located in Guayama, Puerto Rico, through December 2006. However, on May 7, 2002, the Company received notice from the Commonwealth of Puerto
Rico terminating the Company’s contract to manage this facility. As a result of the termination of the management contract for the Guayama Correctional Center, which
occurred on August 6, 2002, operation of the facility was transferred to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico.

On June 28, 2002, the Company sold its interest in a juvenile facility located in Dallas, Texas for approximately $4.3 million. The facility was leased to a third party pursuant
to a lease expiring in 2008. Net proceeds from the sale were used for working capital purposes.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company was notified by the State of Florida of its intention to not renew the Company’s contract to manage the Okeechobee Juvenile
Offender Correctional Center located in Okeechobee, Florida, upon the expiration of a short-term extension to the existing management contract, which expired in December

2002. Upon expiration of the short-term extension, which occurred March 1, 2003, the operation of the facility was transferred to the State of Florida.

On March 18, 2003, the Company was notified by the Department of Corrections of the Commonwealth of Virginia of its intention to not renew the Company’s contract to
manage the

14




Table of Contents

Lawrenceville Correctional Center located in Lawrenceville, Virginia, upon the expiration of the contract. The Company terminated its operation of the facility on March 22,
2003 in connection with the expiration of the contract.

The following table summarizes the results of operations for these facilities for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 (amounts in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended

For the Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002
REVENUE:
Managed-only $ — $8,565 $ 5,366 $38,932
Rental — — — 360
— 8,565 5,366 39,292
EXPENSES:
Managed-only — 8,393 5,979 34,189
Depreciation and amortization — 309 1,074 2,941
— 8,702 7,053 37,130
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) — (137) (1,687) 2,162
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest income — 135 — 355
Loss on sale of assets — (111) 5) (20)
— 24 5) 335
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES — (113) (1,692) 2,497
Income tax expense — (125) — (600)
INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET OF
TAXES $ —_ $ (238) $(1,692) $ 1,897

The assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations presented in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets are as follows (amounts in thousands):

September 30, 2003

December 31, 2002

ASSETS
Accounts receivable $1,158 $17,447
Prepaid expenses and other current assets — 136
Total current assets 1,158 17,583
Property and equipment, net — 484
Total assets $1,158 $18,067
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 770 $ 1,461
Income tax payable 920 920
Total current liabilities $1,690 $ 2,381
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8. DEBT

Debt outstanding as of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002 consists of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2003 2002

(in thousands)

Senior Bank Credit Facility:

Term Loan A Facility, with quarterly principal payments of

varying amounts with unpaid balance originally due March 31,

2006; prior to repayment in May 2003 in connection with the

recapitalization described below, interest was payable

periodically at variable interest rates. $ — $ 63,750
Term Loan B Facility, with quarterly principal payments of

varying amounts with unpaid balance due March 31, 2008;

interest was payable periodically at variable interest rates.

Pursuant to an amendment in August 2003, this facility was

replaced by the Term Loan C Facility. — 560,763
Term Loan C Facility, with quarterly principal payments of

varying amounts with unpaid balance due March 31, 2008;

interest payable periodically at variable interest rates. The

interest rate was 3.9% at September 30, 2003. 274,313 —
7.5% Senior Notes, principal due at maturity in May 2011; interest
payable semi-annually in May and November at 7.5%. 250,000 —

7.5% Senior Notes, principal due at maturity in May 2011; interest
payable semi-annually in May and November at 7.5%. The notes
were issued with a $2.3 million premium, with a $2.2 million

unamortized premium at September 30, 2003. 202,202 —
9.875% Senior Notes, principal due at maturity in May 2009; interest
payable semi-annually in May and November at 9.875%. 250,000 250,000

12.0% Senior Notes, principal due at maturity in June 2006; interest

payable semi-annually in June and December at 12.0%. These notes

were repaid at various times during 2003, as further described below. — 10,795
10.0% Convertible Subordinated Notes, principal due at maturity in

December 2008; interest payable semi-annually in June and

December at 10.0%. In addition, contingent interest accrued at 5.5%

and was payable upon each of December 31, 2003 and repayment of

the notes. These notes were converted into shares of the Company’s

common stock and the contingent interest was paid in connection

with the recapitalization further described below. — 40,000
4.0% Convertible Subordinated Notes, principal due at maturity in

February 2007 with call provisions beginning in March 2005; interest

payable quarterly at 4.0% (decreased from 8.0% in May 2003, as

further described below). 30,000 30,000
Other 527 651
1,007,042 955,959

Less: Current portion of long-term debt (2,914) (23,054)
$1,004,128 $932,905
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Senior Indebtedness

New Senior Bank Credit Facility. In May 2002, the Company obtained a new $715.0 million senior secured bank credit facility (the “New Senior Bank Credit Facility”),
which replaced its then existing senior bank credit facility (the “Old Senior Bank Credit Facility”). Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. serves as administrative agent under the
facility, which was comprised of a $75.0 million revolving loan with a term of approximately four years (the “Revolving Loan”), a $75.0 million term loan with a term of
approximately four years (the “Term Loan A Facility”), and a $565.0 million term loan with a term of approximately six years (the “Term Loan B Facility”). The Term Loan A
Facility was repaid during May 2003, with proceeds from the common stock and notes offerings described below, as well as with cash on hand. As described in Note 6, the
Term Loan B Facility was expanded by $30.0 million during January 2003 in connection with the purchase of the Crowley County Correctional Facility. All borrowings under
the New Senior Bank Credit Facility accrued interest at a base rate plus 2.5%, or LIBOR plus 3.5%, at the Company’s option. The applicable margin for the Revolving Loan is
subject to adjustment based on the Company’s leverage ratio. The Company is also required to pay a commitment fee on the difference between committed amounts and
amounts actually utilized under the Revolving Loan equal to 0.50% per year subject to adjustment based on the Company’s leverage ratio.

In connection with a substantial prepayment in August 2003 with net proceeds from the issuance of the $200 Million 7.5% Senior Notes (as hereafter defined) along with cash
on hand, the Company amended the New Senior Bank Credit Facility to provide: (i) an increase in the capacity of the Revolving Loan to $125.0 million (increased from
$75.0 million), which includes a $75.0 million subfacility for letters of credit (increased from $50.0 million) that expires on March 31, 2006, and (ii) a $275.0 million term
loan expiring March 31, 2008 (the “Term Loan C Facility”), which replaced the Term Loan B Facility. The Term Loan C Facility bears interest at a base rate plus 1.75%, or
LIBOR plus 2.75%, at the Company’s option. The interest rates and commitment fee on the Revolving Loan were unchanged under terms of the amendment. The amended
New Senior Bank Credit Facility is secured by liens on a substantial portion of the net book value of the Company’s fixed assets (inclusive of its domestic subsidiaries), and
pledges of all of the capital stock of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries. The loans and other obligations under the facility are guaranteed by each of the Company’s
domestic subsidiaries and secured by a pledge of up to 65% of the capital stock of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. Covenants under the amended facility provide greater
flexibility for, among other matters, incurring unsecured indebtedness, capital expenditures, and permitted acquisitions, that were further restricted prior to the amendment. In
addition, certain mandatory prepayment provisions were eliminated under the terms of the amendment. Prepayments of loans outstanding under the New Senior Bank Credit
Facility are permitted at any time without premium or penalty, upon the giving of proper notice.

The credit agreement governing the New Senior Bank Credit Facility requires the Company to meet certain financial covenants, including, without limitation, a minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio, leverage ratios and a minimum interest coverage ratio. In addition, the New Senior Bank Credit Facility contains certain covenants which, among
other things, limit the incurrence of additional indebtedness, investments, payment of dividends, transactions with affiliates, asset sales, acquisitions, capital expenditures,
mergers and consolidations, prepayments and modifications of other indebtedness, liens and encumbrances and other matters customarily restricted in such agreements. In
addition, the New Senior Bank Credit
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Facility is subject to certain cross-default provisions with terms of the Company’s other indebtedness.

The amendment to the New Senior Bank Credit Facility and related pay-downs with net proceeds from the issuance of the $200 Million 7.5% Senior Notes resulted in a
charge to expenses associated with refinancing transactions during the third quarter of 2003 of approximately $1.9 million representing the pro-rata write-off of existing
deferred loan costs and certain fees paid.

$250 Million 9.875% Senior Notes. In May 2002, the Company completed the sale and issuance of $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 9.875% unsecured senior
notes (the “9.875% Senior Notes”). The proceeds of the offering of the 9.875% Senior Notes were used to repay a portion of amounts outstanding under the Old Senior Bank
Credit Facility, to redeem approximately $89.2 million of the Company’s existing $100.0 million 12% Senior Notes due 2006 (the “12% Senior Notes”) pursuant to a tender
offer and consent solicitation more fully described below, and to pay related fees and expenses.

Interest on the 9.875% Senior Notes accrues at the stated rate and is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of each year. The 9.875% Senior Notes are scheduled to
mature on May 1, 2009. At any time on or before May 1, 2005, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the notes with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings, as long as
65% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes remains outstanding after the redemption. The Company may redeem all or a portion of the 9.875% Senior Notes on or
after May 1, 2006. Redemption prices are set forth in the indenture governing the 9.875% Senior Notes. The 9.875% Senior Notes are guaranteed on an unsecured basis by all
of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries.

12% Senior Notes. Pursuant to the terms of a tender offer and consent solicitation which expired on May 16, 2002, in connection with the refinancing of the Company’s Old
Senior Bank Credit Facility and the issuance of the 9.875% Senior Notes, in May 2002, the Company redeemed approximately $89.2 million in aggregate principal amount of
its then outstanding $100.0 million 12% Senior Notes with proceeds from the issuance of the 9.875% Senior Notes. The notes were redeemed at a price of 110% of par, which
included a 3% consent payment, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the payment date. In connection with the tender offer and consent solicitation, the Company received
sufficient consents and amended the indenture governing the 12% Senior Notes to delete substantially all of the restrictive covenants and events of default contained therein.

As a result of the early extinguishment of the Old Senior Bank Credit Facility and the redemption of all but $10.8 million of the Company’s 12% Senior Notes, the Company
recorded an extraordinary loss of approximately $36.7 million during the second quarter of 2002, which included the write-off of existing deferred loan costs, certain bank fees
paid, premiums paid to redeem the 12% Senior Notes, and certain other costs associated with the refinancing. As discussed in Note 4, the extraordinary charge reported in the
second quarter of 2002 was reclassified to a component of income (loss) from continuing operations, as required by SFAS 145.

In June 2003, pursuant to an offer to purchase the balance of the remaining 12% Senior Notes, holders of approximately $7.6 million principal amount of the notes tendered
their notes to the Company at a price of 120% of par, resulting in a charge of approximately $1.5 million during
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the second quarter of 2003. During July 2003, holders of an additional $0.1 million principal amount of the notes tendered their notes at a price of 120% of par pursuant to the
offer to purchase, reducing the remaining amount of 12% Senior Notes outstanding to $3.1 million. In connection with the tender offer for the notes, the Company received
sufficient consents and further amended the indenture governing the 12% Senior Notes to remove certain restrictions related to the defeasance of the notes and the solicitation
of consents to waive or amend the terms of the indenture.

During August 2003, pursuant to the indenture relating to the 12% Senior Notes, the Company legally defeased the remaining outstanding 12% Senior Notes by depositing
with a trustee an amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest on such notes through the maturity date in June 2006, and by meeting certain other conditions required
under the indenture. Under the terms of the indenture, the 12% Senior Notes were deemed to have been repaid in full. As a result, the Company reported a charge of
approximately $0.9 million during the third quarter of 2003 associated with the relief of its obligation.

$250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes. Concurrently with the common stock offering further described in Note 9, on May 7, 2003, the Company completed the sale and issuance of
$250.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 7.5% unsecured senior notes (the “$250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes”). As further described in Note 9, proceeds from the
common stock and note offerings were used to purchase shares of common stock issued upon the conversion of the Company’s $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes
(as hereafter defined) (and to pay accrued interest on the notes to the date of purchase), to purchase shares of the Company’s series B preferred stock that were tendered in a
tender offer, to redeem shares of the Company’s series A preferred stock and to pay-down a portion of the New Senior Bank Credit Facility.

Interest on the $250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes accrues at the stated rate and is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of each year. The $250 Million 7.5% Senior
Notes are scheduled to mature on May 1, 2011. At any time on or before May 1, 2006, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the notes with the net proceeds of certain
equity offerings, as long as 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes remains outstanding after the redemption. The Company may redeem all or a portion of the
notes on or after May 1, 2007. Redemption prices are set forth in the indenture governing the $250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes. The $250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes are
guaranteed on an unsecured basis by all of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries.

The sales were completed pursuant to a prospectus supplement to a universal shelf registration that was filed with the SEC and declared effective on April 30, 2003 to register
$700.0 million of debt securities, guarantees of debt securities, preferred stock, common stock and warrants that the Company may issue from time to time.

$200 Million 7.5% Senior Notes. As previously described herein, on August 8, 2003, the Company completed the sale and issuance of $200.0 million aggregate principal
amount of its 7.5% unsecured senior notes (the “$200 Million 7.5% Senior Notes™) in a private placement to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Proceeds from the note offering, along with cash on hand, were used to pay-down approximately $240.3 million of the Term Loan B
Facility portion of the New Senior Bank Credit Facility. The Company is required to file a registration statement with the SEC on or

19




Table of Contents

prior to May 15, 2004 to exchange the $200 Million 7.5% Senior Notes for a new issuance of identical debt securities registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
The Company must use commercially reasonable efforts to have the registration statement declared effective by the SEC on or prior to 90 days after May 15, 2004.

Interest on the $200 Million 7.5% Senior Notes accrues at the stated rate and is payable on May 1 and November 1 of each year. However, the notes were issued at a price of
101.125% of the principal amount of the notes, resulting in a premium of $2.25 million, which is amortized as a reduction to interest expense over the term of the notes. The
$200 Million 7.5% Senior Notes were issued under the existing indenture and supplemental indenture governing the $250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes.

$40 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes

Prior to their conversion as further described in Note 9, an aggregate of $40.0 million of 10% convertible subordinated notes of the Company were due December 31, 2008
(the “$40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes™). The conversion price for the notes, which were convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock, had been
established at $11.90, subject to adjustment in the future upon the occurrence of certain events. At an adjusted conversion price of $11.90, the $40.0 Million Convertible
Subordinated Notes were convertible into 3,362,899 shares of common stock. In connection with the recapitalization transactions described in Note 9, during May 2003,
Income Opportunity Fund I, LLC, Millennium Holdings II LLC, and Millennium Holdings IIT LLC, which are collectively referred to herein as MDP, the holders of the notes,
converted the entire amount of the notes into shares of the Company’s common stock and subsequently sold such shares to the Company. In addition, the Company paid the
outstanding contingent interest balance.

$30 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes

As of September 30, 2003, the Company had outstanding an aggregate of $30.0 million of convertible subordinated notes due February 28, 2007. Prior to the closing of the
Company’s notes and common stock offerings completed in May 2003, these notes accrued interest at 8% per year and were scheduled to mature February 28, 2005, subject to
extension of such maturity until February 28, 2006 or February 28, 2007 by the holder. Effective contemporaneously with the May 2003 closing of the Company’s notes and
common stock offerings, the Company and the holder amended the terms of the notes, reducing the interest rate to 4% per year and extending the maturity date to February 28,
2007. The amendment also extended the date on which the Company could generally require the holder to convert all or a portion of the notes into common stock to any time
after February 28, 2005 from any time after February 28, 2004. As a result of these modifications, the Company reported a charge of approximately $0.1 million during the
second quarter of 2003 for the write-off of existing deferred loan costs associated with the notes. The conversion price for the notes has been established at $10.68, subject to
adjustment in the future upon the occurrence of certain events, including the payment of dividends and the issuance of stock at below market prices by the Company. The
distribution of shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with the settlement of all outstanding stockholder litigation against the Company caused an adjustment to
the conversion price of the notes. As a result of the stockholder litigation adjustment, which was finalized on May 16, 2003 as further described in Note 12, the $30.0 million
convertible subordinated notes will be convertible into approximately 3.4 million shares of the Company’s
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common stock, subject to further adjustment in the future upon the occurrence of certain events, which translates into a current conversion price of $8.92.

At any time after February 28, 2005, the Company may generally require the holder to convert all or a portion of the notes if the average market price of the Company’s
common stock meets or exceeds 150% of the notes’ conversion price for 45 consecutive trading days. The Company may not prepay the indebtedness evidenced by the notes
at any time prior to their maturity; provided, however, that in the event of a change of control or other similar event, the notes are subject to mandatory prepayment in full at
the option of the holder. The current terms of the Company’s senior indebtedness, however, would prevent such a prepayment.

9. EQUITY

Common Stock Offering. Concurrently with the sale and issuance of the $250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes further described in Note 8, on May 7, 2003, the Company completed
the sale and issuance of 6.4 million shares of common stock at a price of $19.50 per share, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $117.0 million after the
payment of costs associated with the issuance. A stockholder of the Company also sold 1.2 million shares of common stock in the same offering. In addition, the underwriters
exercised an over-allotment option to purchase an additional 1.14 million shares from the selling stockholder. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of
shares from the selling stockholder.

The sales were completed pursuant to a prospectus supplement to a universal shelf registration that was filed with the SEC and declared effective on April 30, 2003 to register
$700.0 million of debt securities, guarantees of debt securities, preferred stock, common stock and warrants that the Company may issue from time to time.

Purchase of Shares of Common Stock Issuable Upon Conversion of the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. Pursuant to the terms of an agreement by and among
the Company and MDP, immediately following the completion of the offering of common stock and the $250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes, MDP converted the $40.0 Million
Convertible Subordinated Notes into 3,362,899 shares of the Company’s common stock and subsequently sold such shares to the Company. The aggregate purchase price of
the shares, inclusive of accrued interest of $15.5 million, was approximately $81.1 million. The shares purchased have been cancelled and under the terms of the Company’s
charter and Maryland law and now constitute authorized but unissued shares of the Company’s common stock.

Tender Offer for Series B Preferred Stock. Following the completion of the offering of common stock and the $250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes in May 2003, the Company
purchased approximately 3.7 million shares of its series B preferred stock for approximately $97.4 million pursuant to the terms of a cash tender offer. The tender offer price
for the series B preferred stock (inclusive of all accrued and unpaid dividends) was $26.00 per share. The payment of the difference between the tender price ($26.00) and the
liquidation preference ($24.46) for the shares tendered was reported as a preferred stock distribution in the second quarter of 2003.

Redemption of Series A Preferred Stock. Immediately following consummation of the offering of common stock and the $250 Million 7.5% Senior Notes, the Company gave
notice to the holders of its outstanding series A preferred stock that it would redeem 4.0 million shares of the 4.3 million shares of series A preferred stock outstanding at a

redemption price equal to
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$25.00 per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends to the redemption date. The redemption was completed in June 2003.

Payments on and Amendments to New Senior Bank Credit Facility. The Company used the estimated remaining net proceeds of the offering of common stock and the $250
Million 7.5% Senior Notes after application as described above, combined with $25.3 million of cash on hand, to pay-down $100.0 million outstanding under the Term Loan
B Facility portion of the New Senior Bank Credit Facility.

The Company reported expenses associated with the May 2003 debt refinancing and recapitalization transactions during the second quarter of 2003 of approximately

$2.5 million in connection with the tender offer for the series B preferred stock, the redemption of the series A preferred stock, and the write-off of existing deferred loan
costs associated with the repayment of the term loan portions of the New Senior Bank Credit Facility made with proceeds from the common stock and note offerings. These
estimated expenses were reduced by $0.2 million during the third quarter of 2003.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS 128”), basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income
(loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential
dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock
that then shared in the earnings of the entity. For the Company, diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income (loss), as adjusted, by the weighted average
number of common shares after considering the additional dilution related to convertible subordinated notes, shares issued under the settlement terms of the Company’s
stockholder litigation as further discussed in Note 12, restricted common stock plans and stock options and warrants.

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic earnings per share computation to the numerator and denominator of the diluted earnings per share
computation is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
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NUMERATOR
Basic:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
accounting change and after preferred stock distributions
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes
Cumulative effect of accounting change

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders

Diluted:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
accounting change and after preferred stock distributions
Interest expense applicable to convertible notes

Diluted income from continuing operations before cumulative
effect of accounting change and after preferred stock
distributions

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes

Cumulative effect of accounting change

Diluted net income (loss) available to common stockholders

DENOMINATOR
Basic:
Weighted average common shares outstanding

Diluted:
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options and warrants
Stockholder litigation
Convertible notes
Restricted stock-based compensation

Weighted average shares and assumed conversions

For the Three Months Ended

For the Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002
$18,201 $11,211 $49,455 $ 11,628
— (238) (1,692) 1,897
— — — (80,276)
$18,201 $10,973 $47,763 $(66,751)
$18,201 $11,211 $49,455 $ 11,628
302 605 1,285 —
18,503 11,816 50,740 11,628
— (238) (1,692) 1,897
— — — (80,276)
$18,503 $11,578 $49,048 $(66,751)
I I I I
34,649 27,682 31,426 27,661
34,649 27,682 31,426 27,661
937 556 860 618
— 310 153 310
3,362 3,370 3,362 —
263 244 240 248
39,211 32,162 36,041 28,837
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For the Three Months For the Nine Months
Ended September 30, Ended September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
change $0.53 $ 041 $ 1.57 $ 0.42
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (0.01) (0.05) 0.07
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.90)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $0.53 $ 0.40 $ 1.52 $(2.41)
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
change $0.47 $ 0.37 $ 141 $ 0.40
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (0.01) (0.05) 0.07
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.78)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $0.47 $ 0.36 $ 1.36 $(2.31)
— — — —

The Company’s $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes were convertible into 1.6 million shares of common stock for the nine months ended September 30, 2003,
using the if-converted method, for the periods prior to their conversion in the second quarter of 2003. These incremental shares were excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, as the effect of their inclusion was anti-dilutive.

The Company’s convertible subordinated notes were convertible into an additional 3.4 million shares and 6.7 million shares, respectively, of common stock for both the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2002, using the if-converted method. These incremental shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for
both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002, as the effect of their inclusion was anti-dilutive.

INCOME TAXES

The Company incurred income tax expense of $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003. The Company generated
an income tax benefit of $0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002, while the Company generated an income tax benefit of $33.3 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2002. The income tax benefit during the nine months ended September 30, 2002, primarily resulted from the “Job Creation and Worker
Assistance Act of 2002,” which was signed into law on March 9, 2002. Among other changes, the tax law extended the net operating loss carryback period to five years from
two years for net operating losses arising in tax years ending in 2001 and 2002, and allows use of net operating loss carrybacks and carryforwards to offset 100% of the
alternative minimum taxable income. The Company experienced net operating losses during 2001 resulting primarily from the sale of assets at prices below the tax basis of
such assets. Under terms of the new law, the Company utilized certain of these net operating losses to offset taxable income generated in 1997 and 1996. As a result of this tax
law change in 2002, the Company reported an income tax benefit and claimed a refund of
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approximately $32.2 million during the first quarter of 2002, which was received in April 2002.

As of September 30, 2003, the Company’s net deferred tax assets totaled approximately $90.2 million. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Realization of the future tax
benefits related to deferred tax assets is dependent on many factors, including the Company’s ability to generate taxable income within the net operating loss carryforward
period. Since the change in tax status in connection with the restructuring in 2000, and as of September 30, 2003, the Company has provided a valuation allowance to reserve
the deferred tax assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The valuation allowance was recognized
based on the weight of available evidence indicating that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would not be realized. This evidence primarily consisted of,
but was not limited to, cumulative operating losses.

The Company’s assessment of the valuation allowance could change in the future based upon the Company’s actual and projected taxable income. Removal of the valuation
allowance in whole or in part would result in a non-cash reduction in income tax expense during the period of removal. To the extent no valuation allowance is established for
the Company’s deferred tax assets, future financial statements would reflect a provision for income taxes at the applicable federal and state tax rates on income before taxes.
Based upon the Company’s current and projected taxable income, the Company expects to remove a substantial portion of the valuation allowance at December 31, 2003,
which would result in a significant non-cash reduction in income tax expense reported during the fourth quarter of 2003.

The use of the Company’s current net operating loss carryforwards, which could be used to offset future taxable income, may be subject to annual limitations under the
Internal Revenue Code as a result of the recapitalization transactions discussed in Notes 8 and 9, or otherwise. Any such limitations in the future could require the Company
to pay federal income taxes, resulting in an income tax provision to the extent paid.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedings

General. The nature of the Company’s business results in claims and litigation alleging that it is liable for damages arising from the conduct of its employees, inmates or
others. In the opinion of management, other than those described below, there are no pending legal proceedings that would have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position or results of operations, or cash flows. Adversarial proceedings and litigation are, however, subject to inherent uncertainties, and unfavorable
decisions and rulings could occur which could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows for a
period in which such decisions or rulings occur, or future periods.

Litigation

During the second quarter of 2002, the Company completed the settlement of certain claims
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made against it as the successor to U.S. Corrections Corporation (“USCC”), a privately-held owner and operator of correctional and detention facilities which was acquired by
a predecessor of the Company in April 1998, by participants in USCC’s Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”). As a result of the settlement, the Company made a cash
payment of $575,000 to the plaintiffs in the action. The Company is currently in litigation with USCC’s insurer seeking to recover all or a portion of this settlement amount.
The USCC ESOP litigation, entitled Horn v. McQueen, continued to proceed, however, against two other defendants, Milton Thompson and Robert McQueen, both of whom
were stockholders and executive officers of USCC and trustees of the ESOP prior to the Company’s acquisition of USCC. In the Horn litigation, the ESOP participants allege
numerous violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, including breaches of fiduciary duties to the ESOP by causing the ESOP to overpay for employer
securities. The plaintiffs in the action are seeking damages in excess of $30.0 million plus prejudgment interest and attorneys’ fees, although expert testimony in the litigation
has indicated actual damages of a significantly less amount. On July 29, 2002, the United States District Court for the Western District of Kentucky found that McQueen and
Thompson had breached their fiduciary duties to the ESOP, but made no determination as to the amount of any damages. It is not known when the Court will make a finding
with respect to damages.

In or about the second quarter of 2001, Northfield Insurance Co. (“Northfield”), the issuer of the liability insurance policy to USCC and its directors and officers, filed suit
against McQueen, Thompson and the Company seeking a declaration that it did not owe coverage under the policy for any liabilities arising from the Horn litigation. Among
other things, Northfield claimed that it did not receive timely notice of the litigation under the terms of the policy. McQueen and Thompson subsequently filed a cross-claim in
the Northfield litigation against the Company, claiming that, as the result of the Company’s alleged failure to timely notify the insurance carrier of the Horn case on their
behalf, they were entitled to indemnification or contribution from the Company for any loss incurred by them as a result of the Horn litigation if there were no insurance
available to cover the loss, if any. On September 30, 2002, the Court in the Northfield litigation found that Northfield was not obligated to cover McQueen and Thompson or
the Company. Though it did not resolve the cross-claim, the Court did note that there was no basis for excusing McQueen and Thompson from their independent obligation to
provide timely notice to the carrier because of the Company’s alleged failure to provide timely notice to the carrier. McQueen and Thompson have since filed a state court
action essentially duplicating their cross-claim in the federal case, and the Company has initiated claims against the lawyer who jointly represented the Company, McQueen
and Thompson in the Horn litigation. Upon the entry of a final order by the Court, the Company intends to appeal the Court’s decision that Northfield is not obligated to
provide coverage, and the Company intends to continue to assert its position that coverage is required.

The Company cannot currently predict whether it will be successful in recovering all or a portion of the amount it has paid in settlement of the Horn litigation. With respect to
the cross-claim and the state court claims made by McQueen and Thompson, the Company believes that such claims are without merit and that the Company will be able to
defend itself successfully against such claims and/or any additional claims of such nature that may be brought in the future. No assurance can be given, however, that the
Company will prevail.

On April 21, 2003, a putative class action lawsuit was filed in the Superior Court of California for the County of San Diego against the Company styled Sanchez v. Corrections
Corporation
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of America. The lawsuit was brought by a former employee on his own behalf and on behalf of other former and current similarly-situated employees. Plaintiff alleges that the
Company did not comply with certain wage and hour laws and regulations primarily concerning meal periods and other specified breaks, which laws and regulations are
imposed by the State of California pursuant to the California Labor Code and Business and Professions Code. Plaintiff seeks damages on his behalf and the alleged class for
such violations as well as certain penalties allegedly due and owing as a consequence of such alleged violations. Following service of the complaint and during the third
quarter of 2003, the Company undertook certain investigations in response to the allegations and an answer to the complaint was filed. The Company intends to vigorously
defend the lawsuit, including contesting the certification of a class and asserting its defenses to the claims alleged by the plaintiff. Although no assurances can be given that the
Company will be successful in its defense, the Company does not believe such claims will result in a material adverse effect on the Company.

Tax Contingencies

In connection with the merger with the former Corrections Corporation of America (“Old CCA”), on December 31, 1998, the Company assumed the tax obligations of Old
CCA. The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) completed field audits of Old CCA’s federal tax returns for the taxable year ended December 31, 1998, and also completed
auditing the Company’s federal tax return for the taxable year ended December 31, 2000. In addition, the IRS is currently auditing the Company’s federal payroll tax return for
the taxable year ended December 31, 2001.

The Company settled the audit of Old CCA’s 1998 federal income tax return during October 2003, which resulted in no material impact on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows.

In connection with the IRS’s audit of the Company’s 2000 federal income tax return, the IRS had proposed to require the Company to accrue rent and interest income related
to certain lease and loan agreements with Operating Company, which was forgiven in September 2000 when Operating Company was unable to pay such amounts due. The
proposed adjustment would have required the Company to pay approximately $56.0 million in cash plus penalties and interest. The Company protested this finding with the
Appeals Office of the IRS and did not establish a reserve for this matter because it believed the proposed adjustment was without merit. During October 2003, the Appeals
Office of the IRS notified the Company that it had withdrawn the proposed adjustment and accordingly closed the audit with no material impact to the Company’s financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Because the audit of the Company’s federal payroll tax return for the taxable year ended December 31, 2001 has only recently commenced, it is too early to predict the
outcome of such audit.

State Portion of Stockholder Litigation Settlement
During the first quarter of 2001, the Company obtained final court approval of the settlements of outstanding consolidated federal and state class action and derivative
stockholder lawsuits brought against the Company and certain of its former directors and executive officers. During 2001 the Company paid the settlement proceeds to the

federal court plaintiffs and to plaintiffs’
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counsel in the actions.

On May 16, 2003, 309,823 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued, along with a $2.9 million subordinated promissory note, in connection with the final
settlement of the state court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement. Under the terms of the promissory note, the note and accrued interest were extinguished in June
2003 once the average closing price of the Company’s common stock exceeded a “termination price” equal to $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following
the note’s issuance. The extinguishment of the note in June 2003, resulted in a $2.9 million non-cash gain during the second quarter of 2003.

Guarantees

Hardeman County Correctional Facilities Corporation (“HCCFC”) is a nonprofit, mutual benefit corporation organized under the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act on
November 17, 1995 to purchase, construct, improve, equip, finance, own and manage a detention facility located in Hardeman County, Tennessee. HCCFC was created as an
instrumentality of Hardeman County to implement the County’s incarceration agreement with the State of Tennessee to house certain inmates.

During 1997, HCCFC issued $72.7 million of revenue bonds, which were primarily used for the construction of a 2,016-bed medium security correctional facility. In
addition, HCCFC entered into a construction and management agreement with the Company in order to assure the timely and coordinated acquisition, construction,
development, marketing and operation of the correctional facility.

HCCEC leases the correctional facility to Hardeman County in exchange for all revenue from the operation of the facility. HCCFC has, in turn, entered into a management
agreement with the Company for the correctional facility.

In connection with the issuance of the revenue bonds, the Company is obligated, under a debt service deficit agreement, to pay the trustee of the bond’s trust indenture (the
“Trustee”) amounts necessary to pay any debt service deficits consisting of principal and interest requirements (outstanding principal balance of $60.3 million at

September 30, 2003 plus future interest payments). In the event the State of Tennessee, which is currently utilizing the facility to house certain inmates, exercises its option to
purchase the correctional facility, the Company is also obligated to pay the difference between principal and interest owed on the bonds on the date set for the redemption of
the bonds and amounts paid by the State of Tennessee for the facility plus all other funds on deposit with the Trustee and available for redemption of the bonds. Ownership of
the facility reverts to the State of Tennessee in 2017 at no cost. Therefore, the Company does not currently believe the State of Tennessee will exercise its option to purchase
the facility. At September 30, 2003, the outstanding principal balance of the bonds exceeded the purchase price option by $13.1 million. The Company also maintains a
restricted cash account of approximately $7.1 million as collateral against a guarantee it has provided for a forward purchase agreement related to the bond issuance.

SEGMENT REPORTING

As of September 30, 2003, the Company owned and managed 38 correctional and detention facilities, and managed 21 correctional and detention facilities it did not own.
Management

28




Table of Contents

views the Company’s operating results in two reportable segments: owned and managed correctional and detention facilities and managed-only correctional and detention
facilities. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in the notes to consolidated
financial statements included in the Company’s 2002 Form 10-K and July 2003 Form 8-K. Owned and managed facilities include the operating results of those facilities
owned and managed by the Company. Managed-only facilities include the operating results of those facilities owned by a third party and managed by the Company. The
Company measures the operating performance of each facility within the above two reportable segments, without differentiation, based on facility contribution. The Company
defines facility contribution as a facility’s operating income or loss from operations before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Since each of the Company’s
facilities within the two reportable segments exhibit similar economic characteristics, provide similar services to governmental agencies, and operate under a similar set of
operating procedures and regulatory guidelines, the facilities within the identified segments have been aggregated and reported as one reportable segment.

The revenue and facility contribution for the reportable segments and a reconciliation to the Company’s operating income are as follows for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2003 and 2002 (dollars in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002
Revenue:
Owned and managed $185,664 $161,888 $541,276 $472,182
Managed-only 71,684 72,488 209,587 208,635
Total management revenue 257,348 234,376 750,863 680,817
Operating expenses:
Owned and managed 135,007 121,952 388,522 355,912
Managed-only 58,009 57,208 170,770 168,462
Total operating expenses 193,016 179,160 559,292 524,374
Facility contribution:
Owned and managed 50,657 39,936 152,754 116,270
Managed-only 13,675 15,280 38,817 40,173
Total facility contribution 64,332 55,216 191,571 156,443
Other revenue (expense):
Rental and other revenue 6,083 5,066 17,014 14,909
Other operating expense (6,638) (4,191) (16,163) (12,967)
General and administrative (9,819) (8,127) (29,366) (23,662)
Depreciation and amortization (13,157) (13,268) (39,106) (37,893)
Operating income $ 40,801 $ 34,696 $123,950 $ 96,830
September 30, 2003 December 31, 2002
Assets:
Owned and managed $1,607,074 $1,558,491
Managed-only 77,573 85,099
Corporate and other 197,912 212,414
Discontinued operations 1,158 18,067
Total assets $1,883,717 $1,874,071
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SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE

During the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, the Company issued $7.7 million and $8.8 million, respectively, of series B preferred stock in lieu of cash
distributions to the holders of shares of series B preferred stock on the applicable record date. Also, during the nine months ended September 30, 2003, the Company issued
0.3 million shares of common stock in satisfaction of the state portion of the stockholder litigation discussed in Note 12. As a result, accounts payable and accrued expenses
were reduced by, and common stock and additional paid-in capital were increased by $3.1 million. In addition, the extinguishment of the promissory note, as further
described in Note 12, resulted in a non-cash reduction to accounts payable and accrued expenses, with a corresponding increase to the change in fair value of derivative
instruments. During the second quarter of 2003, the Company issued approximately 3.4 million shares of common stock due to the conversion of the $40.0 Million
Convertible Subordinated Notes by MDP. During the first quarter of 2002, the Company issued approximately 94,000 shares of common stock due to the conversion of
$1.1 million of convertible subordinated notes by the holder of such notes.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report.

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains statements as to our beliefs and expectations of the outcome of future events that are forward-looking statements as defined within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of current or historical fact contained herein, including statements regarding our
future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “projects,” “will,” and similar expressions, as they relate to us, are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the statements made. These
include, but are not limited to, the risks and uncertainties associated with:

 « » » » 2 .

. fluctuations in operating results because of changes in occupancy levels, competition, increases in cost of operations, fluctuations in interest rates and risks of operations;
. changes in the privatization of the corrections and detention industry and the public acceptance of our services;
. our ability to obtain and maintain correctional facility management contracts, including as the result of sufficient governmental appropriations, and the timing of the

opening of new facilities;

. increases in costs to develop or expand correctional facilities that exceed original estimates, or the inability to complete such projects on schedule as a result of various
factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, such as weather, labor conditions and material shortages, resulting in increased construction costs;

. changes in government policy and in legislation and regulation of the corrections and detention industry that adversely affect our business;
. the availability of debt and equity financing on terms that are favorable to us; and
. general economic and market conditions.

Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this quarterly report may turn out to be inaccurate. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current
expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial needs.
They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including the risks, uncertainties and assumptions
described in risk factors disclosed in detail in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) on March 28, 2003 (File No. 001-16109) (the “2002 Form 10-K”) and in other reports we file with the SEC from time to time. Readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to publicly revise these forward-looking statements to reflect events
or circumstances occurring after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or
persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained in this report and in the 2002 Form 10-K.
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OVERVIEW
The Company

As of September 30, 2003, we owned 41 correctional, detention and juvenile facilities, three of which we lease to other operators, and one additional facility which is not yet in
operation. As of September 30, 2003, we operated 59 facilities, with a total design capacity of approximately 59,000 beds in 20 states and the District of Columbia.

We specialize in owning, operating and managing prisons and other correctional facilities and providing inmate residential and prisoner transportation services for governmental
agencies. In addition to providing the fundamental residential services relating to inmates, our facilities offer a variety of rehabilitation and education programs, including basic
education, religious services, life skills and employment training and substance abuse treatment. These services are intended to reduce recidivism and to prepare inmates for their
successful re-entry into society upon their release. We also provide health care (including medical, dental and psychiatric services), food services and work and recreational programs.

Our website address is www.correctionscorp.com. Please note that our website address is provided as an inactive textual reference only. We make our Form 10-K, Form 10-Q,
Form 8-K, and Section 16 reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), available on our website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably
practicable after these reports are filed with or furnished to the SEC.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. As such, we are required to make
certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are reasonable based upon the information available. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. A summary of our significant accounting
policies is described in the audited financial statements included in our 2002 Form 10-K and in our July 2003 Form 8-K. The significant accounting policies and estimates which we
believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include the following:

Asset impairments. As of September 30, 2003, we had approximately $1.6 billion in long-lived assets. We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying values of our long-lived assets,
other than intangibles, when events suggest that an impairment may have occurred. In these circumstances, we utilize estimates of undiscounted cash flows to determine if an
impairment exists. If an impairment exists, it is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

Goodwill impairments. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” or SFAS 142, which
established new accounting and reporting requirements for goodwill and other intangible assets. Under SFAS 142, all goodwill amortization ceased effective January 1, 2002 and
goodwill attributable to each of our reporting units was tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying value. Fair value was determined
using a collaboration of various common valuation
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techniques, including market multiples, discounted cash flows, and replacement cost methods. These impairment tests are required to be performed at adoption of SFAS 142 and at
least annually thereafter. On an ongoing basis (absent any impairment indicators), we expect to continue to perform our impairment tests during the fourth quarter, in connection with
our annual budgeting process.

Based on our initial impairment tests, we recognized an impairment of $80.3 million to write-off the carrying value of goodwill associated with our locations included in the owned
and managed reporting segment during the first quarter of 2002. This goodwill was established in connection with the acquisition of Correctional Management Services Corporation,
referred to herein as Operating Company. The remaining goodwill, which is associated with the facilities we manage but do not own, was deemed to be not impaired. This remaining
goodwill was established in connection with the acquisitions of Prison Management Services, Inc., or PMSI, and Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, Inc., or JJEMSI,
both of which were privately-held service companies, referred to herein as the Service Companies, that managed certain government-owned adult and juvenile prison and jail
facilities. The implied fair value of goodwill of the locations included in the owned and managed reporting segment did not support the carrying value of any goodwill, primarily due
to the highly leveraged capital structure. No impairment of goodwill allocated to the locations included in the managed-only reporting segment was deemed necessary, primarily
because of the relatively minimal capital expenditure requirements, and therefore indebtedness, in connection with obtaining such management contracts. Under SFAS 142, the
impairment recognized at adoption of the new rules was reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change in our statement of operations for the first quarter of 2002. Impairment
adjustments recognized after adoption, if any, are required to be recognized as operating expenses.

Income taxes. As of September 30, 2003, we had approximately $90.2 million in net deferred tax assets. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Realization of the future tax benefits related to
deferred tax assets is dependent on many factors, including our ability to generate taxable income within the net operating loss carryforward period. Since the change in tax status in
connection with our comprehensive restructuring in 2000, as further described in the 2002 Form 10-K, and as of September 30, 2003, we have provided a valuation allowance to
substantially reserve the deferred tax assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” or SFAS 109. The valuation
allowance is recognized based on the weight of available evidence indicating that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. This evidence primarily
consists of, but is not limited to, cumulative operating losses.

Our assessment of the valuation allowance could change in the future based upon our actual and projected taxable income. Removal of the valuation allowance in whole or in part
would result in a non-cash reduction in income tax expense during the period of removal. In addition, because a portion of the valuation allowance as of September 30, 2003 was
established to reserve certain deferred tax assets upon the acquisitions of PMSI and JJEMS], in accordance with SFAS 109, removal of the valuation allowance would result in a
reduction to any remaining goodwill recorded in connection with such acquisitions to the extent the reversal relates to the valuation allowance applied to deferred tax assets existing at
the date PMSI and JJFMSI were acquired. If the valuation allowance as of September 30, 2003 were to be removed in its entirety, the reduction to goodwill would amount to
approximately $4.5 million. To the extent no valuation allowance is established for our deferred tax assets, future financial statements would reflect a provision for income taxes at the
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applicable federal and state tax rates on income before taxes. Based upon our current and projected taxable income, we expect to remove a substantial portion of the valuation
allowance at December 31, 2003, which would result in a significant non-cash reduction in income tax expense reported during the fourth quarter of 2003.

The IRS completed an audit of our federal tax return for the taxable year ended December 31, 2000, and had proposed to require us to accrue rent and interest income related to
certain lease and loan agreements with Operating Company, which was forgiven in September 2000 when Operating Company was unable to pay such amounts due. The proposed
adjustment would have required us to pay approximately $56.0 million in cash plus penalties and interest. We protested this finding with the Appeals Office of the IRS and did not
establish a reserve for this matter because we believed the proposed adjustment was without merit. During October 2003, the Appeals Office of the IRS notified us that it had
withdrawn the proposed adjustment and accordingly closed the audit with no material impact to our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Self-funded insurance reserves. As of September 30, 2003, we had approximately $31.1 million in accrued liabilities for employee health, workers’ compensation, and automobile
insurance. We are significantly self-insured for employee health, workers’ compensation, and automobile liability insurance. As such, our insurance expense is largely dependent on
claims experience and our ability to control our claims. We have consistently accrued the estimated liability for employee health insurance based on our history of claims experience
and time lag between the incident date and the date the cost is paid by us. We have accrued the estimated liability for workers’ compensation and automobile insurance based on a
third-party actuarial valuation of the outstanding liabilities. These estimates could change in the future.

Legal reserves. As of September 30, 2003, we had approximately $20.2 million in accrued liabilities for litigation for certain legal proceedings in which we are involved. We have
accrued our estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims based on a range of potential outcomes. In addition, we are subject to current and potential future legal
proceedings for which little or no accrual has been reflected because our current assessment of the potential exposure is nominal. These estimates have been developed in consultation
with our General Counsel’s office and, as appropriate, outside counsel handling these matters, and are based upon an analysis of potential results, assuming a combination of litigation
and settlement strategies. It is possible, however, that future cash flows and results of operations could be materially affected by changes in our assumptions, new developments, or by
the effectiveness of our strategies.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our principal capital requirements are for working capital, capital expenditures and debt service payments. Capital requirements may also include cash expenditures associated with
our outstanding commitments and contingencies, as further discussed in the notes to the financial statements and as further described in our 2002 Form 10-K and July 2003 Form 8-K.
Additionally, we may incur capital expenditures to expand the design capacity of certain of our facilities in order to retain management contracts, and to increase our inmate bed
capacity for anticipated demand from current and future customers. With lender consent, we may acquire additional correctional facilities that we believe have favorable investment
returns and increase value to our stockholders. We will also consider opportunities for growth, including potential acquisitions of businesses within our line of business and those that
provide complementary services, provided we believe such opportunities will broaden our market and/or increase the services we can provide to our customers.
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On September 10, 2003, we announced our intention to expand by 624 beds the Crowley County Correctional Facility located in Olney Springs, Colorado, a facility we acquired in
January 2003. The anticipated cost of the expansion is approximately $22 million and is estimated to be completed during the third quarter of 2004. This expansion is being
undertaken in anticipation of increasing demand from the States of Colorado and Wyoming, the current customers at this facility. We also announced on September 10, 2003, our
intention to complete construction of the Stewart County Correctional Facility located in Stewart County, Georgia. The anticipated cost to complete the Stewart facility is
approximately $19 million, with completion also estimated to occur during the third quarter of 2004. Construction on the 1,524-bed Stewart County Correctional Facility began in
August 1999 and was suspended in May 2000. Our decision to complete construction of this facility is based on anticipated demand from several government customers having a
need for inmate bed capacity in the Southeast region of the country. However, we can provide no assurance that we will be successful in utilizing the increased bed capacity resulting
from these projects. Additionally, in October 2003, we announced the signing of a new contract with the Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement agency (“ICE”) for up to
905 detainees at our Houston Processing Center located in Houston, Texas. We also announced our intention to expand the facility by 494 beds from its current 411 beds to 905 beds.
The anticipated cost of the expansion is approximately $29 million and is estimated to be completed during the first quarter of 2005. This expansion is being undertaken in order to
accommodate additional detainee populations that are anticipated as a result of this contract, which contains a guarantee that ICE will utilize 679 beds at such time as the expansion is
completed.

We currently expect to be able to meet substantially all of our expansion costs, including the completion of construction of the Stewart County Correctional Facility, as well as our
working capital and debt service requirements, with cash on hand and net cash provided by operations.

As of September 30, 2003, our liquidity was provided by cash on hand of approximately $68.9 million and $98.1 million available under a $125.0 million revolving credit facility.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we generated $157.7 million in cash through operating activities, and as of September 30, 2003, we had net working capital of
$65.5 million. We currently expect to be able to meet our cash expenditure requirements for the next year.

Recapitalization

On April 2, 2003, we initiated a series of transactions as described below intended to enhance our capital structure and to provide us with additional financing flexibility that we
believe will enable us to more effectively execute our business objectives in the future.

Common Stock Offering. On May 7, 2003, we completed the sale and issuance of 6.4 million shares of common stock at a price of $19.50 per share, resulting in net proceeds of
approximately $117.0 million after the payment of costs associated with the issuance. A stockholder also sold 1.2 million shares of common stock in the same offering. In addition,
the underwriters exercised an over-allotment option to purchase an additional 1.14 million shares from the selling stockholder. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares
from the selling stockholder.

The sales were completed pursuant to a prospectus supplement to a universal shelf registration that was filed with the SEC and declared effective on April 30, 2003 to register
$700.0 million of debt securities, guarantees of debt securities, preferred stock, common stock and warrants that we may issue from time to time.
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Note Offering. Concurrently with the common stock offering, we also completed the sale and issuance of $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes under a separate
prospectus supplement to the universal shelf registration. The new senior notes pay interest semi-annually at the rate of 7.5% per annum and are scheduled to mature on May 1, 2011.
The new senior notes are senior unsecured obligations and are guaranteed by our domestic subsidiaries. At any time on or before May 1, 2006, we may redeem up to 35% of the notes
with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings, as long as 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes remains outstanding after the redemption. We may redeem all or a
portion of the new senior notes on or after May 1, 2007. Redemption prices are set forth in the indenture governing the new senior notes.

As described below, proceeds from the common stock and note offerings were used to purchase shares of common stock issued upon the conversion of our $40.0 million 10%
convertible subordinated notes (and to pay accrued interest on the notes to the date of purchase), to purchase shares of our series B preferred stock that were tendered in the tender
offer described below, to redeem shares of our series A preferred stock and to pay-down a portion of our senior bank credit facility.

Purchase of Shares of Common Stock Issuable Upon Conversion of the MDP Notes. Pursuant to the terms of an agreement by and among Income Opportunity Fund I, LLC,
Millennium Holdings II LLC and Millennium Holdings III LLC, which are collectively referred to herein as MDP, and us, immediately following the completion of the common
stock and notes offerings, MDP converted the $40.0 million aggregate principal amount of our convertible subordinated notes due 2008 with a stated rate of 10.0%, plus contingent
interest accrued at 5.5%, into 3,362,899 shares of our common stock and subsequently sold such shares to us. The aggregate purchase price of the shares, inclusive of accrued interest
of $15.5 million, was approximately $81.1 million. The shares purchased from MDP have been cancelled under the terms of our charter and Maryland law and now constitute
authorized but unissued shares of common stock.

Tender Offer for Series B Preferred Stock. Following the completion of the common stock and notes offerings in May 2003, we purchased approximately 3.7 million shares of series
B preferred stock for approximately $97.4 million pursuant to the terms of a cash tender offer. The tender offer price for the series B preferred stock (inclusive of all accrued and
unpaid dividends) was $26.00 per share. The payment of the difference between the tender price ($26.00) and the liquidation preference ($24.46) for the shares tendered was reported
as a preferred stock distribution in the second quarter of 2003. As the result of the repayment of the balance of the remaining outstanding 12% Senior Notes, as further described
below, the remaining shares of series B preferred stock are redeemable at any time on or before April 30, 2004 at a price of $24.46 per share plus dividends accrued and unpaid at the
redemption date.

Redemption of Series A Preferred Stock. Immediately following consummation of the common stock and the notes offerings, we gave notice to the holders of our outstanding series A
preferred stock that we would redeem 4.0 million shares of the 4.3 million shares of series A preferred stock outstanding at a redemption price equal to $25.00 per share, plus accrued
and unpaid dividends to the redemption date. The redemption was completed in June 2003.

Payments on and Amendments to our Senior Bank Credit Facility. We used the estimated remaining net proceeds of the common stock and notes offerings after application as
described above, combined with $25.3 million of cash on hand, to pay-down $100.0 million outstanding under the term loan portions of our senior bank credit facility. Further, during

May 2003, we used cash
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received from a federal income tax refund to pay-down an additional $32.0 million outstanding under the term loan portion of the senior bank credit facility. In connection with the
common stock offering and the notes offering, the requisite lenders under the senior bank credit facility consented to the issuance of the new senior notes and the use of all proceeds
from the common stock and note offerings to purchase the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes by MDP, redeem the
series A preferred stock and purchase shares of series B preferred stock pursuant to the offer to purchase.

In connection with the consent, we also obtained modification to certain provisions of the senior bank credit facility to generally provide us with additional borrowing capacity and
operational flexibility, including, but not limited to, (i) providing for a future increase in the revolving credit portion of the facility from $75.0 million to up to $110.0 million at our
request (subject to the receipt of lender commitments at the time of the increase), (ii) increasing our ability to incur certain indebtedness, (iii) increasing our permitted annual capital
expenditures, and (iv) increasing our ability to assume indebtedness in connection with, and otherwise complete, acquisitions.

On April 3, 2003, Standard & Poor’s upgraded its rating of our senior secured debt to “BB-" from “B+” and our senior unsecured debt to “B” from “B-”. On May 14, 2003, Moody’s
Investors Service upgraded its rating of our senior secured debt to “Ba3” from “B1,” our senior unsecured debt to “B1” from “B2,” and our preferred stock to “B3” from “Caal.”

Repayment of Remaining 12% Senior Notes

In June 2003, pursuant to an offer to purchase the balance of the $10.8 million remaining $100.0 million 12% senior notes due 2006, referred to herein as the 12% Senior Notes,
holders of approximately $7.6 million principal amount of the notes tendered their notes at a price of 120% of par. During July 2003, holders of an additional $0.1 million principal
amount of the notes tendered their notes at a price of 120% of par pursuant to the offer to purchase, reducing the remaining amount of 12% Senior Notes outstanding to $3.1 million.

During August 2003, pursuant to the indenture relating to the 12% Senior Notes, we legally defeased the remaining outstanding 12% Senior Notes by depositing with a trustee an
amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest on such notes through the maturity date in June 2006, and by meeting certain other conditions required under the indenture. Under
the terms of the indenture, the 12% Senior Notes were deemed to have been repaid in full. As a result, we reported a charge of approximately $0.9 million during the third quarter of
2003 associated with the relief of our obligation.

Issuance of New 7.5% Senior Notes

During the third quarter of 2003, we took advantage of a favorable interest rate environment and fixed the interest rate of a substantial portion of our remaining outstanding variable
rate debt and extended our debt maturities. On August 8, 2003, we completed the sale and issuance of $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes in a private
placement to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). These notes are referred to herein as the $200
Million Senior Notes. The $200 Million Senior Notes pay interest semi-annually at the rate of 7.5% per annum and are scheduled to mature May 1, 2011. The notes were issued at a
price of 101.125% of the principal amount of the notes, resulting in a premium of $2.25 million, which will be amortized as a reduction to interest expense over the term
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of the notes. The $200 Million Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligations of ours and are guaranteed by our domestic subsidiaries. Proceeds from the note offering, along with
cash on hand, were used to pay-down approximately $240.3 million of the term loan portion of our senior bank credit facility.

Amendment to Senior Bank Credit Facility

In connection with the prepayment in August 2003 of the term loan portion of our senior bank credit facility with proceeds from the issuance of the $200 Million Senior Notes and
with cash on hand, we obtained an amendment to our senior bank credit facility. The amendment to the senior bank credit facility provided: (i) an increase in the capacity of the
revolving portion of the facility to $125.0 million (increased from $75.0 million), which includes a $75.0 million subfacility for letters of credit (increased from $50.0 million) that
expires on March 31, 2006, and (ii) a $275.0 million term loan expiring March 31, 2008, which replaced the existing term loan portion of the facility. The amended senior bank credit
facility is secured by liens on a substantial portion of the net book value of our fixed assets (inclusive of our domestic subsidiaries), and pledges of all of the capital stock of our
domestic subsidiaries. The loans and other obligations under the facility are guaranteed by each of our domestic subsidiaries and secured by a pledge of up to 65% of the capital stock
of our foreign subsidiaries. In addition, the amendment provided for a reduction in interest rates on the term portion of the facility to a base rate plus 1.75% or LIBOR plus 2.75%, at
our option, from a base rate plus 2.5% or LIBOR plus 3.5% and, with respect to covenants, provides greater flexibility for, among other matters, incurring unsecured indebtedness,
capital expenditures, and permitted acquisitions. The interest rates and commitment fee on the revolving portion of the facility were unchanged under terms of the amendment. The
amendment also eliminated certain mandatory prepayment provisions.

The credit agreement governing the senior bank credit facility requires us to meet certain financial covenants, including, without limitation, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio,
leverage ratios and a minimum interest coverage ratio. In addition, the senior bank credit facility contains certain covenants which, among other things, limit the incurrence of
additional indebtedness, investments, payment of dividends, transactions with affiliates, asset sales, acquisitions, capital expenditures, mergers and consolidations, prepayments and
modifications of other indebtedness, liens and encumbrances and other matters customarily restricted in such agreements. In addition, the senior bank credit facility contains cross-
default provisions with our other indebtedness.

The amendment to the senior bank credit facility and related pay-downs with net proceeds from the issuance of the $200 Million Senior Notes resulted in a charge to expenses
associated with refinancing transactions during the third quarter of 2003 of approximately $1.9 million representing the pro-rata write-off of existing deferred loan costs and certain
fees paid.

As aresult of the completion of our recapitalization and refinancing transactions during 2003, we have significantly reduced our exposure to variable rate debt and now have minimal
debt service requirements and no debt maturities on outstanding indebtedness until 2007. At September 30, 2003, our total weighted average effective interest rate was 7.63% and our
total weighted average debt maturity was 6.1 years.

Operating Activities

Our net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, was
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$157.7 million, compared with $122.2 million for the same period in the prior year. Cash provided by operating activities represents the year to date net income or loss plus
depreciation and amortization, changes in various components of working capital, adjustments for various non-cash charges, including primarily the cumulative effect of accounting
change in 2002, the change in fair value of derivative instruments, and the charges related to the comprehensive refinancing completed in May 2002 and the expenses associated with
debt refinancing and recapitalization transactions completed in 2003, which are reported as financing activities to the extent such charges result from cash payments.

The increase in cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 was due to increased occupancy levels and improved margins and due to a
reduction in interest expense, primarily resulting from the refinancing of our senior debt completed in May 2002 and due to lower market interest rates. Additionally, we received
payment of $13.5 million from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico as final payment of all outstanding balances, as well as income tax refunds of $33.7 million, which also resulted in
an increase in cash provided by operating activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2003. These increases were partially offset by the payment of $15.5 million of
contingent interest on the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes that had accrued but remained unpaid since June 2000 in accordance with the terms of such notes, and which
was paid in May 2003 in connection with the recapitalization.

Investing Activities

Our cash flow used in investing activities was $75.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, and was primarily attributable to capital expenditures during the period of
$70.7 million, which included capital expenditures of $47.5 million in connection with the purchase of the Crowley County Correctional Facility and an increase in our investments in
numerous technology initiatives. In addition, cash was used to fund restricted cash for a capital improvements, replacements, and repairs reserve totaling $5.6 million for our San
Diego Correctional Facility. Our cash flow used in investing activities was $3.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002, and was primarily attributable to capital
expenditures during the period of $11.9 million, net of proceeds received from the sale of our interest in a juvenile facility located in Dallas, Texas, on June 28, 2002, for $4.3 million.
In addition, we received refunds of restricted cash totaling approximately $5.2 million primarily used as collateral for workers’ compensation claims. We elected to post letters of
credit from the revolving loan portion of our senior bank credit facility to replace the collateral on such claims.

Financing Activities

Our cash flow used in financing activities was $78.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003. During January 2003, we financed the purchase of the Crowley County
Correctional Facility through $30.0 million in borrowings under our senior bank credit facility pursuant to an expansion of the term loan portion of the facility. During May 2003, we
completed the recapitalization transactions, which included the sale and issuance of $250.0 million of 7.5% senior notes and 6.4 million shares of common stock for $124.8 million.
The proceeds received from the sale and issuance of the senior notes and the common stock were largely offset by the redemption of $192.0 million of our series A preferred stock
and our series B preferred stock; the prepayment of $132.0 million on the term loan portions of the senior bank credit facility with proceeds from the recapitalization, cash on hand,
and an income tax refund; the prepayment of $7.6 million aggregate principal of the 12% Senior Notes; the repurchase and subsequent retirement of 3.4 million shares of
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common stock for $65.6 million; and the payment of $10.8 million in costs primarily associated with the recapitalization transactions and prepayment of the 12% Senior Notes.
During August 2003, we completed the sale and issuance of $200.0 million of 7.5% senior notes at a price of 101.125% of the principal amount of the notes, resulting in a premium of
$2.25 million. The proceeds received from the sale and issuance of the senior notes were offset by the prepayment of $240.6 million on the term loan portion of the senior bank credit
facility with proceeds from the sale and issuance of the senior notes and with cash on hand. We also paid $7.7 million in costs primarily associated with the debt refinancing
transactions during the third quarter of 2003. We also paid $7.4 million in scheduled principal repayments during the first nine months of 2003, and cash dividends of $11.9 million on
our preferred stock, including a tender premium of $5.8 million in connection with the completion of a tender offer for our series B preferred stock.

Our cash flow used in financing activities was $63.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. Proceeds from the issuance on May 3, 2002 of the 9.875% Senior Notes
and the new senior bank credit facility were largely offset by the repayment of the old senior bank credit facility and the redemption of substantially all of the 12% Senior Notes.
However, we also paid debt issuance costs of $35.4 million in connection with the refinancing, and an additional $8.8 million to terminate an interest rate swap agreement. Further,
during the first quarter of 2002, we paid cash dividends of $12.9 million on our series A preferred stock for the fourth quarter of 2001 and for all five quarters in arrears, as permitted
under the terms of an amendment to our old senior bank credit facility obtained in December 2001. Additionally, we paid $2.2 million in cash dividends on our series A preferred
stock during each of the second and third quarters of 2002.

Material Commitments

The following schedule summarizes our contractual cash obligations by the indicated period as of September 30, 2003 (in thousands):

Payments Due By Year Ended December 31,

2003 (remainder) 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total
Long-term debt $ 725 $ 2,918 $2,934 $2,889 $229,203 $766,171 $1,004,840
Houston Processing Center
expansion 1,347 26,989 242 — — — 28,578
Operating leases 852 638 91 — — — 1,581
Total Contractual
Cash Obligations $2,924 $30,545 $3,267 $2,889 $229,203 $766,171 $1,034,999

We had $26.9 million of letters of credit outstanding at September 30, 2003 primarily to support our requirement to repay fees under our workers’ compensation plan in the event we
do not repay the fees due in accordance with the terms of the plan. The letters of credit are renewable annually. We did not have any draws under any outstanding letters of credit
during the nine months ended September 30, 2003 or 2002.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our results of operations are impacted by, and the following table sets forth for the periods presented, the number of facilities we owned and managed, the number of facilities we
managed but did not own, the number of facilities we leased to other operators, and the facilities we owned that were not yet in operation.
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Owned
and Managed
Managed Only Leased Incomplete Total
Facilities as of December 31, 2001 36 28 4 2 70
Termination of the management contract for the Southwest
Indiana Regional Youth Village — (1) — — 1)
Termination/expiration of the management contracts for facilities
in Puerto Rico — (€)) — — 3)
Management contract award by the Federal Bureau of Prisons for
the McRae Correctional Facility 1 — — 1) —
Sale of interest in a juvenile facility — — 1) — 1)
Expiration of the management contract for the Delta Correctional
Facility — 1) — — (€8}
Facilities as of December 31, 2002 37 23 3 1 64
Purchase of Crowley County Correctional Facility 1 — — — 1
Expiration of the management contract for the Okeechobee
Juvenile Offender Correctional Center — 1) — — 1)
Expiration of the management contract for the Lawrenceville
Correctional Facility — (1) — — (€))
Facilities as of September 30, 2003 38 21 3 1 63
L L L L L

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003 Compared to the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2002

We generated net income available to common stockholders of $18.2 million, or $0.47 per diluted share, for the three months ended September 30, 2003, compared with net income
available to common stockholders of $11.0 million, or $0.36 per diluted share, for the three months ended September 30, 2002. Contributing to the net income for the three-month
period in 2003, as compared to the same period in the previous year, was an increase in operating income of $6.1 million, from $34.7 million during the third quarter of 2002 to $40.8
million during the third quarter of 2003, due to the commencement of operations at our McRae Correctional Facility in December 2002 and the acquisition of the Crowley County
Correctional Facility in January 2003, as well as increased occupancy levels and improved margins. Net income available to common stockholders for the three months ended
September 30, 2003 was favorably impacted by a reduction in distributions to preferred stockholders during the third quarter of 2003 compared with the third quarter of 2002
resulting from the purchase and redemption of a substantial portion of our preferred stock outstanding in connection with our recapitalization during the second quarter of 2003,
partially offset by a $1.1 million increase in interest expense. Weighted average common shares outstanding also increased by 7.0 million shares primarily as a result of the issuance
of 6.4 million shares in connection with the recapitalization. Results for the third quarter also included $2.6 million in expenses associated with the debt refinancing transactions

completed in August 2003.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we generated net income available to common stockholders of $47.8 million, or $1.36 per diluted share, compared with a net loss
available to common stockholders of $66.8 million, or $2.31 per diluted share, for the same period in the previous year. Contributing to the net income for the first nine months in
2003, as compared to the
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same period in the previous year, was an increase in operating income of $27.2 million, from $96.8 million during the first nine months of 2002 to $124.0 million during the first nine
months of 2003. As noted above, the increase was due to the commencement of operations at our McRae Correctional Facility in December 2002 and the acquisition of the Crowley
County Correctional Facility in January 2003, as well as increased occupancy levels and improved margins. Contributing to the net loss for the nine-month period in 2002 was a non-
cash charge for the cumulative effect of accounting change of $80.3 million, or $2.78 per diluted share, related to the adoption of SFAS 142, in addition to expenses associated with
debt refinancing transactions of $36.7 million during the second quarter of 2002. The debt refinancing completed during 2002 also contributed to the reduction in interest expense,
from $69.4 million to $56.5 million during the nine-month period in 2003. The cumulative effect of accounting change and the costs of refinancing were partially offset by a cash
income tax benefit of $32.2 million during the first quarter of 2002 related to a change in tax law that became effective in March 2002, which enabled us to utilize certain of our net
operating losses to offset taxable income generated in 1997 and 1996 to obtain a refund.

Facility Operations

A key performance indicator we use to measure the revenue and expenses associated with the operation of the facilities we own or manage is expressed in terms of a compensated
man-day, and represents the revenue we generate and expenses we incur for one inmate for one calendar day. Revenue and expenses per compensated man-day are computed by
dividing facility revenue and expenses by the total number of compensated man-days during the period. A compensated man-day represents a calendar day for which we are paid for
the occupancy of an inmate. We believe the measurement is useful because we are compensated for operating and managing facilities at an inmate per-diem rate based upon actual or
minimum guaranteed occupancy levels. We also measure our ability to contain costs on a per-compensated man-day basis, which is largely dependent upon the number of inmates we
accommodate. Further, per man-day measurements are also used to estimate our potential profitability based on certain occupancy levels relative to design capacity. Revenue and
expenses per compensated man-day for all of the facilities we owned or managed, exclusive of those discontinued (see further discussion below regarding discontinued operations),
were as follows for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002:

For the Three Months For the Nine Months
Ended September 30, Ended September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002
Revenue per compensated man-day $50.82 $49.60 $50.89 $49.41
Operating expenses per compensated man-day:
Fixed expense 28.00 27.41 28.10 27.93
Variable expense 10.12 10.50 9.81 10.12
Total 38.12 37.91 37.91 38.05
Operating margin per compensated man-day $12.70 $11.69 $12.98 $11.36
Operating margin 25.0% 23.6% 25.5% 23.0%
Average compensated occupancy 93.7% 90.2% 92.1% 88.6%

Management and other revenue consists of revenue earned from the operation and management of adult and juvenile correctional and detention facilities we own or manage and from
our inmate transportation subsidiary, which, for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, totaled $262.5 million and $238.6 million, respectively, while management and
other revenue totaled $765.1
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million and $692.9 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002. Business from our federal customers, including the Federal Bureau of Prisons,
or the BOP, the U.S. Marshals Service, or the USMS, and ICE, remains strong, while many of our state customers are currently experiencing budget difficulties. Our federal
customers generated approximately 38.0% and 37.6%, respectively, of our total management revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003. While the budget
difficulties experienced by our state customers present challenges with respect to our per-diem rates resulting in pressure on our management revenue in future quarters, these
governmental entities are also constrained with respect to funds available for prison construction. As a result, because we believe inmate populations will continue to rise, we
currently expect the lack of new bed supply to lead to higher occupancies in the long-term.

Operating expenses totaled $199.7 million and $183.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, while operating expenses for the nine months
ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 totaled $575.5 million and $537.3 million, respectively. Operating expenses consist of those expenses incurred in the operation and management
of adult and juvenile correctional and detention facilities, and for our inmate transportation subsidiary.

Salaries and benefits represent the most significant component of fixed operating expenses. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003, salaries and benefits
expense increased $13.6 million and $30.8 million, respectively, as compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increase in salaries and benefits expense was primarily due to
the arrival of inmates at the McRae Correctional Facility beginning in December 2002 and the purchase of the Crowley County Correctional Facility in January 2003. Salaries and
benefits per compensated man-day increased $1.14 per compensated man-day during the third quarter of 2003 as compared to the same quarter in the prior year, while salaries and
benefits per compensated man-day increased $0.51 per compensated man-day during the nine months ended September 30, 2003 as compared to the same period in the prior year. The
turnover rate for correctional officers for our company, and for the corrections industry in general, also remains high. We continue to develop strategies to reduce our turnover rate,
but we can provide no assurance that these strategies will be successful. In addition, eleven of our facilities currently have contracts with the federal government requiring that our
wage and benefit rates comply with wage determination rates set forth, and as adjusted from time to time, under the Service Contract Act of the U.S. Department of Labor. Our
contracts generally provide for reimbursement of a portion of the increased costs resulting from wage determinations in the form of increased per-diems, thereby mitigating the effect
of increased salaries and benefits expenses at those facilities. We may also be subject to adverse claims, or government audits, relating to alleged violations of wage and hour laws
applicable to us, which may result in adjustments to amounts previously paid as wages and, potentially, interest and/or monetary penalties.

We also experienced a trend of increasing insurance expense during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 as compared with the same periods in 2002. Because we are
significantly self-insured for employee health, workers’ compensation, and automobile liability insurance, our insurance expense is dependent on claims experience and our ability to
control our claims. Our insurance policies contain various deductibles and stop-loss amounts intended to limit our exposure for individually significant occurrences. However, the
nature of our self-insurance provides little protection for a deterioration in claims experience or increasing employee medical costs in general.

We continue to incur increasing insurance expense due to adverse claims experience primarily resulting from rising healthcare costs throughout the country. We continue to develop
new strategies to improve the management of our future loss claims, but can provide no assurance that these
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strategies will be successful. Additionally, general liability insurance costs have risen substantially since the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, and other types of insurance,
such as directors and officers liability insurance, have increased due to several high profile business failures and concerns about corporate governance and accounting in the
marketplace. Unanticipated additional insurance expenses resulting from adverse claims experience or a continued increasing cost environment for general liability and other types of
insurance could result in increasing expenses in the future.

The reduction in variable operating expenses per compensated man-day to $10.12 and $9.81 per compensated man-day, respectively, during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2003 from $10.50 and $10.12 per compensated man-day, respectively, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002 was primarily due to the
renegotiation of our contract for food services. The Company decided to outsource food services at almost all of the facilities we operate. Outsourcing our food services to one vendor
for substantially all of the facilities we manage generated opportunities to produce economies of scale. We also achieved reductions in inmate medical expenses primarily due to the
renegotiation of our management contract for the Correctional Treatment Facility located in the District of Columbia, as well as through the negotiation of a national contract with our
pharmaceutical provider and reduced reliance on outsourced nursing.

The operation of the facilities we own carries a higher degree of risk associated with a management contract than the operation of the facilities we manage but do not own because we
incur significant capital expenditures to construct or acquire facilities we own. Additionally, correctional and detention facilities have a limited or no alternative use. Therefore, if a
management contract is terminated on a facility we own, we continue to incur certain operating expenses, such as real estate taxes, utilities, and insurance, that we would not incur if a
management contract was terminated for a managed-only facility. As a result, revenue per compensated man-day is typically higher for facilities we own and manage than for
managed-only facilities. Because we incur higher expenses, such as repairs and maintenance, real estate taxes, and insurance, on the facilities we own and manage, our cost structure
for facilities we own and manage is also higher than the cost structure for the managed-only facilities. The following tables display the revenue and expenses per compensated man-
day for the facilities we own and manage and for the facilities we manage but do not own:
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For the Three Months For the Nine Months
Ended September 30, Ended September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002
Owned and Managed Facilities:
Revenue per compensated man-day $55.02 $54.33 $55.24 $54.65
Operating expenses per compensated man-day:
Fixed expense 29.33 29.29 29.52 29.87
Variable expense 10.68 11.64 10.13 11.32
Total 40.01 40.93 39.65 41.19
Operating margin per compensated man-day $15.01 $13.40 $15.59 $13.46
Operating margin 27.3% 24.7% 28.2% 24.6%
Average compensated occupancy 89.4% 84.5% 87.6% 82.6%
Managed Only Facilities:
Revenue per compensated man-day $42.43 $41.52 $42.29 $40.60
Operating expenses per compensated man-day:
Fixed expense 25.34 24.20 25.30 24.67
Variable expense 9.00 8.56 9.16 8.11
Total 34.34 32.76 34.46 32.78
Operating margin per compensated man-day $ 8.09 $ 8.76 $ 7.83 $ 7.82
Operating margin 19.1% 21.1% 18.5% 19.3%
Average compensated occupancy 103.8% 102.0% 102.6% 100.8%

Owned and Managed Facilities

On May 30, 2002, we were awarded a contract by the BOP to house 1,524 federal detainees at our McRae Correctional Facility located in McRae, Georgia. The three-year contract,
awarded as part of the Criminal Alien Requirement Phase II Solicitation, or CAR II, also provides for seven one-year renewals. The contract with the BOP guarantees at least 95%
occupancy on a take-or-pay basis, and commenced full operations in December 2002. Total management and other revenue at this facility was $9.5 million and $26.4 million,
respectively, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003. As of September 30, 2003 this facility had an actual occupancy of approximately 94%, despite generating
revenues at the guaranteed 95% rate. During much of the nine-month period in 2003, we benefited from a relatively low level of operating expenses resulting from lower physical
occupancies while generating revenue at the guaranteed occupancy rate. While no revenue was generated by this facility during the nine months of 2002, we incurred $1.0 million and
$1.5 million, respectively, of operating expenses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002.

Results for the first nine months of 2003 were also favorably impacted by the acquisition, on January 17, 2003, of the Crowley County Correctional Facility, a 1,200-bed medium
security adult male prison facility located in Olney Springs, Crowley County, Colorado. The facility currently houses inmates from the States of Colorado and Wyoming. As part of
the transaction, we also assumed a management contract with the State of Colorado and entered into a new management contract with the State of Wyoming, and took over
management of the facility effective January 18, 2003.

During the third quarter of 2003, we transferred all of the Wisconsin inmates currently housed at our 1,440-bed medium security North Fork Correctional Facility located in Sayre,
Oklahoma to our 2,160-bed medium security Diamondback Correctional Facility located in Watonga, Oklahoma in order to satisfy a contractual provision mandated by the State of

Wisconsin. As a result of the
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transfer, North Fork Correctional Facility will remain closed for an indefinite period of time. We are currently pursuing new management contracts and other opportunities to take
advantage of the beds that became available at the North Fork Correctional Facility, but can provide no assurance that we will be successful in doing so. We currently expect the
operational consolidations to have no material impact on our 2003 financial statements. However, long-term, the consolidation will result in certain operational efficiencies.

Additionally, during the second quarter of 2003, the State of Wisconsin approved legislation to open various prison facilities owned by the State. The opening of these facilities is
currently expected to lead to a reduction in the number of inmates we house from the State of Wisconsin at our Diamondback Correctional Facility and our Prairie Correctional
Facility, totaling approximately 2,100 inmates at September 30, 2003. However, given the uncertainty regarding the exact timing of the openings, and the extent of Wisconsin inmate
population growth between now and the time of such openings, it is difficult to estimate the impact on the Company’s financial statements.

During October 2002, we entered into a new agreement with Hardeman County, Tennessee, with respect to the management of up to 1,536 medium security inmates from the State of
Tennessee in the Whiteville Correctional Facility. Total management revenue increased during the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2003 from the comparable
periods in 2002, by $2.8 million and $7.2 million, respectively, at this facility.

Due to a combination of rate increases and/or an increase in population at seven of our facilities, including our 2,304-bed Central Arizona Detention Center, 1,600-bed Florence
Correctional Center, 1,338-bed Prairie Correctional Facility, 1,232-bed San Diego Correctional Facility, 910-bed Torrance County Detention Facility, 483-bed Leavenworth Detention
Center, and 480-bed Webb County Detention Center, primarily from the BOP, the USMS, the ICE, and the State of Wisconsin in the case of Prairie Correctional Facility, total
management and other revenue increased during the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2003 from the comparable periods in 2002, by $7.2 million and $28.1 million,
respectively, at these facilities.

During June 2003, we announced our first inmate management contract with the State of Alabama to house up to 1,440 medium security inmates in our Tallahatchie County
Correctional Facility, located in Tutwiler, Mississippi pursuant to an emergency contract authorized by the governor and the Alabama Department of Corrections to aid the State’s
corrections agency in relieving its overcrowded system that is under court order. We began housing inmates pursuant to this management contract in July 2003. The contract is
intended to be short-term in nature while Alabama prepares a longer term Request for Proposal for this inmate population. However, due to the close proximity to Alabama, we
believe our otherwise substantially idle Tallahatchie County Correctional Facility, for which construction was completed in 2000, represents an ideal long-term solution in meeting
Alabama’s growing demand for prison capacity. Nevertheless, we can provide no assurance that we will be awarded the contract that is expected to result from the Request for
Proposal.

Fixed expenses per compensated man-day for our owned and managed facilities increased slightly from $29.29 during the third quarter of 2002 to $29.33 for the third quarter of 2003,
but decreased from $29.87 during the nine-month period in 2002 to $29.52 during the nine-month period in 2003. The aforementioned increase in fixed operating expenses for
salaries and benefits and insurance across the portfolio of facilities we manage was partially offset by decreases in property tax expenses of $2.5 million for the three- and nine-month
periods of 2003, compared with the same periods in
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2002, or a decrease of $0.93 per compensated man-day for the three-month period and a decrease of $0.44 per compensated man-day for the nine-month period. The decrease in
property tax expense was the result of the successful settlement during the third quarter of 2003 of a property tax dispute at our Northeast Ohio Correctional Center.

Variable expenses per compensated man-day for our owned and managed facilities decreased from $11.64 during the third quarter of 2002 to $10.68 for the third quarter of 2003, and
from $11.32 during the nine-month period in 2002 to $10.13 during the nine-month period in 2003. The aforementioned decrease in variable expenses for reduced food and medical
expenses across the portfolio of facilities we manage was net of an increase in variable expenses for an increase in litigation expenses during the three- and nine-month periods of
2003, compared with the same periods in the prior year, of approximately $1.8 million and $5.7 million, respectively, or $0.43 and $0.56 per compensated man-day, respectively, at
certain of our owned facilities for legal proceedings in which we are involved. The increase in litigation expense during the three-month period resulted from an increase in our
overall exposure to outstanding litigation. The amount of the increase during the nine-month period reflected the settlement during the first quarter of 2002 of a number of outstanding
legal matters for amounts less than reserves previously established for such matters, which resulted in a reversal of litigation expenses during the first quarter of 2002 of
approximately $1.3 million.

We currently house approximately 2,250 adult male inmates for the Texas Department of Criminal Justice, or the TDCJ, at two of our owned pre-parole transfer facilities located in
Texas. Our contracts with the TDCJ for these facilities will expire in February 2004. Rather than renew the contracts pursuant to their renewal provisions, the TDCJ has issued a
Request for Proposal, or RFP, that covers substantially all inmates currently housed in these facilities. (As further described below, the TDCJ has also issued an RFP and awarded
contracts for its inmates housed in the several privately operated state jails and correctional centers located in the state of Texas, including at two facilities we manage but do not
own.) The TDCJ has indicated that the purpose of the RFP is to establish consistent terms and scope of services among all of the TDCJ’s contracts with private operators. We have
submitted our response to the RFP, which was due in October 2003; however, a final date for the awards has not yet been set. We expect to continue to operate the two Texas facilities
pursuant to our contracts with the TDCJ through the completion of the RFP process. We will be competing with other prison operators who respond to the RFP, including other
private prison operators and, potentially, government operators. No assurance can be given that we will be awarded any contracts by the TDCJ to house the inmates subject to our
existing contracts or any additional inmates, or that any contracts we do obtain will be on terms comparable to our existing contracts. The failure to obtain contracts from the TDCJ on
terms comparable to our existing contracts could significantly reduce our revenues and operating income, and, accordingly, could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and cash flows. In the event the TDCJ does not renew our management contracts for either of these facilities, we can provide no assurance that we will be able to replace
the revenue lost at these facilities.

Managed-Only Facilities
On June 28, 2002, we received notice from the Mississippi Department of Corrections terminating our contract to manage the 1,016-bed Delta Correctional Facility located in
Greenwood, Mississippi, due to the non-appropriation of funds. We ceased operations of the facility during October of 2002. However, the State of Mississippi agreed to expand the

management contract at the Wilkinson County Correctional Facility located in Woodville, Mississippi to accommodate an additional 100
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inmates. As a result, the results of operations of the Delta Correctional Facility are not reported in discontinued operations. Total management and other revenue at Delta Correctional
Facility was $1.9 million and $6.3 million, respectively, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002, while we incurred $1.9 million and $6.9 million, respectively, in
operating expenses during the same period.

In November 2003, the Texas Department of Criminal Justice, or the TDCJ, awarded us contracts to manage a total of 8,315 beds in seven state correctional facilities, one of which
contains 1,001 beds that we currently manage, as part of a RFP process. The new management contracts are expected to become effective mid-January, 2004. As part of this RFP, the
TDCJ did not award us the contract for the continued management of a 1,000-bed correctional facility located in Venus, Texas, that we currently operate. We expect to continue to
manage this facility until mid-January, 2004. While we expect the management of an incremental 6,314 beds at these facilities to contribute to additional revenues and operating
income during 2004, because the pricing of our bid for the management of these facilities took into consideration the volume of potential business to be generated from such a bid, we
currently expect the operating margins on these facilities to be lower than the existing margins from our managed-only business.

We currently house approximately 1,380 adult male inmates for the State of Florida, Correctional Privatization Commission, or the CPC, at two of our managed-only facilities in
Florida. Our contracts with the CPC expire in June 2004. Rather than renew the contracts pursuant to their renewal provisions, in September 2003 the CPC issued an Invitation to
Negotiate, or ITN, that covered substantially all inmates housed in three privately operated prisons located in the State of Florida, including one facility managed by another private
prison operator. Responses to the ITN are due in December 2003, and final awards are expected to be made in 2004. We expect to continue to operate the two Florida facilities
pursuant to our contacts with the CPC through the completion of the ITN process. We will be competing with other prison operators who respond to the ITN, including other private
prison operators and, potentially, government operators. No assurance can be given that we will be awarded any contracts by the CPC to house the inmates subject to our existing
contracts or any additional inmates, or that any contracts we do obtain will be on terms comparable to our existing contracts. The failure to obtain contracts from the CPC on terms
comparable to our existing contracts could significantly reduce our revenues and operating income and, accordingly, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
and cash flows. Our revenues and operating income, however, could increase in the future if we are successful in securing an award for additional inmates or for the facility we do not
manage.

Rental revenue

Rental revenue was $0.9 million for both the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002. Rental revenue for each of the nine month periods ended September 30, 2003 and
2002 was $2.8 million. Rental revenue was generated from leasing three correctional and detention facilities to governmental agencies and other private operators.

General and administrative expense
For the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, general and administrative expenses totaled $9.8 million and $8.1 million, respectively, while general and administrative
expenses totaled $29.4 million and $23.7 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of

corporate management salaries and
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benefits, professional fees and other administrative expenses, and increased from the periods in 2002 primarily due to an increase in salaries and benefits, combined with an increase
in professional services, during 2003 compared with 2002.

We have expanded our infrastructure over the past several quarters to implement and support numerous technology initiatives, to maintain closer relationships with existing and
potentially new customers in order to identify their needs, to focus on reducing facility operating expenses, and to comply with increasing corporate governance requirements. We
believe our expanded infrastructure and investments in technology will provide long-term benefits enabling us to provide enhanced quality service to our customers while creating
scalable operating efficiencies.

Depreciation and amortization

For the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, depreciation and amortization expense totaled $13.2 million and $13.3 million, respectively, while depreciation and
amortization expense totaled $39.1 million and $37.9 million, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002. The change in depreciation and amortization for
the three and nine month periods primarily resulted from an increase in depreciation for the acquisition of the Crowley County Correctional Facility in January 2003, and due to
placing into service in December 2002 our McRae Correctional Facility, partially offset by an increase in the amortization of a liability relating to contract values established in
connection with certain mergers completed in 2000.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense is reported net of interest income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002. Gross interest expense was $20.0 million and $19.3 million,
respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, and gross interest expense was $59.1 million and $72.8 million, respectively, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2003 and 2002. Gross interest expense is based on outstanding indebtedness, net settlements on certain derivative instruments, and amortization of loan costs and
unused facility fees. The decrease in gross interest expense from the prior year was primarily attributable to the comprehensive refinancing of our senior indebtedness completed on
May 3, 2002, which resulted in a decrease in the interest rate spread on our senior bank credit facility and the redemption of a significant portion of our 12% Senior Notes. Further,
the recapitalization and refinancing transactions completed during the second and third quarters of 2003 resulted in the elimination of the regular and contingent interest associated
with the convertible subordinated notes held by MDP, a further reduction in the interest rate spread on the term portion of our senior bank credit facility, a reduction in the interest rate
on our $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes, and the repayment of the remaining balance of our 12% Senior Notes, partially offset by additional borrowings used to
repurchase and redeem a substantial portion of our preferred stock. Interest expense also decreased due to the termination of an interest rate swap agreement, lower amortization of
loan costs, and a lower interest rate environment.

Gross interest income was $0.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively, for three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002. For the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and
2002, gross interest income was $2.6 million and $3.4 million, respectively. Gross interest income is earned on cash collateral requirements, a direct financing lease, notes receivable

and investments of cash and cash equivalents.
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Expenses associated with debt refinancing and recapitalization transactions

For the three months ended September 30, 2003, expenses associated with refinancing and recapitalization transactions were $2.6 million. For the nine months ended September 30,
2003 and 2002, expenses associated with refinancing and recapitalization transactions were $6.7 million and $36.7 million, respectively. Charges during the third quarter of 2003
primarily resulted from the write-off of existing deferred loan costs associated with the repayment of the term loan portion of our senior bank credit facility made with proceeds from
the issuance of the $200 Million Senior Notes, premiums paid to defease the remaining outstanding 12% Senior Notes, and certain fees paid to amend the term portion of our senior
bank credit facility. Charges during the second quarter of 2003 included expenses associated with the tender offer for our series B preferred stock, the redemption of our series A
preferred stock, and the write-off of existing deferred loan costs associated with the repayment of the term loan portions of our senior bank credit facility made with proceeds from the
common stock and note offerings, a tender premium paid to the holders of the 12% Senior Notes who tendered their notes to us at a price of 120% of par, and fees associated with the
modifications to the terms of the $30.0 million of convertible subordinated notes.

As a result of the early extinguishment of our old senior bank credit facility and the redemption of substantially all of the 12% Senior Notes in May 2002, we recorded charges of
$36.7 million during the second quarter of 2002, which included the write-off of existing deferred loan costs, certain bank fees paid, premiums paid to redeem the 12% Senior Notes,
and certain other costs associated with the refinancing.

Change in fair value of derivative instruments

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” or SFAS 133, as amended, we have
reflected in earnings the change in the estimated fair value of an interest rate swap agreement during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002. We estimated the fair value
of the interest rate swap agreement using option-pricing models that value the potential for the interest rate swap agreement to become in-the-money through changes in interest rates
during the remaining term of the agreement.

Our swap agreement fixed LIBOR at 6.51% (prior to the applicable spread) on outstanding balances of at least $325.0 million through its expiration on December 31, 2002. In
accordance with SFAS 133, we recorded a non-cash charge of $0.6 million and a non-cash gain of $2.8 million, respectively, for the change in fair value of the swap agreement for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2002, which included $0.6 million and $1.9 million, respectively, for amortization of the transition adjustment, or the cumulative
reduction in the fair value of the swap from its inception to the date we adopted SFAS 133 on January 1, 2001. We were no longer required to maintain the existing interest rate swap
agreement due to the early extinguishment of the old senior bank credit facility. During May 2002, we terminated the swap agreement prior to its expiration at a price of
approximately $8.8 million. In accordance with SFAS 133, we continued to amortize the unamortized portion of the transition adjustment as a non-cash expense, through

December 31, 2002. The new senior bank credit facility obtained in May 2002 required us to hedge at least $192.0 million of the term loan portions of the facility within 60 days
following the closing of the loan. In May 2002, we entered into an interest rate cap agreement to fulfill this requirement, capping LIBOR at 5.0% (prior to the applicable spread) on
outstanding balances of $200.0 million through the expiration of the cap agreement on May 20, 2004. We paid a premium of $1.0 million to enter into
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the interest rate cap agreement. We expect to amortize this premium into interest expense as the estimated fair values assigned to each of the hedged interest payments expire
throughout the term of the cap agreement, amounting to $0.4 million in 2003 and $0.6 million in 2004. We have met the hedge accounting criteria under SFAS 133 and related
interpretations in accounting for the interest rate cap agreement. As a result, the interest rate cap agreement is marked to market each reporting period, and the change in the fair value
of the interest rate cap agreement, amounting to $144,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2003, is reported through other comprehensive income in the statement of
stockholders’ equity. The cap agreement was estimated to have no value at September 30, 2003. There can be no assurance that the interest rate cap agreement will be effective in
mitigating our exposure to interest rate risk in the future, or that we will be able to continue to meet the hedge accounting criteria under SFAS 133.

On May 16, 2003, approximately 0.3 million shares of common stock were issued, along with a $2.9 million subordinated promissory note, in connection with the final settlement of
the state court portion of our stockholder litigation settlement. Under the terms of the promissory note, the note and accrued interest were extinguished in June 2003 once the average
closing price of our common stock exceeded a “termination price” equal to $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following the note’s issuance. The terms of the note,
which allowed the principal balance to fluctuate dependent on the trading price of our common stock, created a derivative instrument that was valued and accounted for under the
provisions of SFAS 133. Since we had previously reflected the maximum obligation of the contingency associated with the state portion of the stockholder litigation on the balance
sheet, the extinguishment of the note in June 2003 resulted in a $2.9 million non-cash gain during the second quarter of 2003.

Income tax expense

We incurred income tax expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 of $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively. During the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2002, we generated an income tax benefit of approximately $0.4 million and $33.3 million, respectively. The income tax benefit during the nine months ended
September 30, 2002, primarily resulted from the “Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002,” which was signed into law on March 9, 2002. Among other changes, the tax law
extended the net operating loss carryback period to five years from two years for net operating losses arising in tax years ending in 2001 and 2002, and allows use of net operating
loss carrybacks and carryforwards to offset 100% of the alternative minimum taxable income. We experienced net operating losses during 2001 resulting primarily from the sale of
assets at prices below the tax basis of such assets. Under terms of the new law, we utilized certain of these net operating losses to offset taxable income generated in 1997 and 1996.
As aresult of this tax law change in 2002, we reported an income tax benefit and claimed a refund of approximately $32.2 million during the first quarter of 2002, which was received
in April 2002.

As of September 30, 2003, our net deferred tax assets totaled approximately $90.2 million. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Realization of the future tax benefits related to deferred tax
assets is dependent on many factors, including our ability to generate taxable income within the net operating loss carryforward period. Since the change in tax status in connection
with our comprehensive restructuring in 2000, as further described in the 2002 Form 10-K, and as of September 30, 2003, we have provided a valuation allowance to reserve the
deferred tax assets in accordance with SFAS 109. The valuation allowance was recognized based on the weight of available evidence indicating that it was more likely than not
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that the deferred tax assets would not be realized. This evidence primarily consisted of, but was not limited to, cumulative operating losses.

Our assessment of the valuation allowance could change in the future based upon our actual and projected taxable income. Removal of the valuation allowance in whole or in part
would result in a non-cash reduction in income tax expense during the period of removal. To the extent no valuation allowance is established for our deferred tax assets, future
financial statements would reflect a provision for income taxes at the applicable federal and state tax rates on income before taxes. Based upon our current and projected taxable
income, we expect to remove a substantial portion of the valuation allowance at December 31, 2003, which would result in a significant non-cash reduction in income tax expense
reported during the fourth quarter of 2003.

The use of our current net operating loss carryforwards, which could be used to offset future taxable income, may be subject to annual limitations under the Internal Revenue Code as
a result of the aforementioned recapitalization transactions or otherwise. Any such limitations in the future could require us to pay federal income taxes, resulting in an income tax
provision to the extent paid.

Discontinued Operations

In late 2001 and early 2002, we were provided notice from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico of its intention to terminate the management contracts at the 500-bed multi-security
Ponce Young Adult Correctional Facility and the 1,000-bed medium security Ponce Adult Correctional Facility, located in Ponce, Puerto Rico, upon the expiration of the management
contracts in February 2002. Attempts to negotiate continued operation of these facilities were unsuccessful. As a result, the transition period to transfer operation of the facilities to the
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico ended May 4, 2002, at which time operation of the facilities was transferred to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2002, these facilities generated total revenue of $7.9 million and incurred total operating expenses of $7.4 million. The Company recorded a non-cash charge of
approximately $1.8 million during the second quarter of 2002 for the write-off of the carrying value of assets associated with the terminated management contracts.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, we obtained an extension of our management contract with the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for the operation of the 1,000-bed Guayama
Correctional Center located in Guayama, Puerto Rico, through December 2006. However, on May 7, 2002, we received notice from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico terminating
our contract to manage this facility, which occurred on August 6, 2002. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002, this facility generated total revenue of

$2.2 million and $12.3 million, respectively, and incurred total operating expenses of $2.7 million and $9.7 million, respectively.

On June 28, 2002, we sold our interest in a juvenile facility located in Dallas, Texas for approximately $4.3 million. The facility, which was designed to accommodate 900 at-risk
juveniles, was leased to an independent third party operator pursuant to a lease expiring in 2008. Net proceeds from the sale were used for working capital purposes. This facility
generated rental income of $0.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we were notified by the State of Florida of its intention to not renew our contract to manage the 96-bed Okeechobee Juvenile Offender Correctional
Center located in Okeechobee, Florida, upon the expiration of a short-term extension to the existing management contract, which expired in December 2002. Upon expiration, which

occurred March 1, 2003, the
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operation of the facility was transferred to the State of Florida. During the three months ended September 30, 2002, the facility generated $1.2 million of total revenue and incurred
total operating expenses of $1.0 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, the facility generated total revenue of $0.8 million and $3.6 million,
respectively, and incurred total operating expenses of $0.7 million and $3.0 million, respectively. Additionally, the expiration of the contract resulted in the impairment of all goodwill
previously recorded in connection with this facility, which totaled $0.3 million, during the first quarter of 2003.

On March 18, 2003, we were notified by the Department of Corrections of the Commonwealth of Virginia of its intention to not renew our contract to manage the 1,500-bed
Lawrenceville Correctional Center located in Lawrenceville, Virginia, upon the expiration of the contract. Accordingly, we terminated our operation of the facility on March 22, 2003
in connection with the expiration of the contract. During the three months ended September 30, 2002, the facility generated $5.1 million of total revenue and incurred total operating
expenses of $4.7 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, the facility generated total revenue of $4.6 million and $15.2 million,
respectively, and incurred total operating expenses of $5.3 million and $14.1 million, respectively. Additionally, the expiration of the contract resulted in the impairment of all
goodwill previously recorded in connection with this facility, which totaled $0.3 million, during the first quarter of 2003.

Distributions to preferred stockholders

For the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, distributions to preferred stockholders totaled $0.8 million and $5.3 million, respectively, while distributions to preferred
stockholders totaled $14.4 million and $15.6 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002.

Following the completion of the common stock and notes offering in May 2003, we purchased approximately 3.7 million shares of series B preferred stock for approximately

$97.4 million pursuant to the terms of a cash tender offer. The tender offer price for the series B preferred stock (inclusive of all accrued and unpaid dividends) was $26.00 per share.
The tender premium payment of the difference between the tender price ($26.00) and the liquidation preference ($24.46) for the shares tendered was reported as a preferred stock
distribution in the second quarter of 2003. The payment of the $1.54 tender premium resulted in approximately $5.8 million of preferred stock dividends in the second quarter of
2003. Dividends will continue to accrue on the remaining outstanding shares of series B preferred stock at the rate of 12% per year of the stated value of $24.46. The dividends are
payable quarterly in arrears, in additional shares of series B preferred stock through the third quarter of 2003, and in cash thereafter, provided that all accrued and unpaid cash
dividends have been made on our series A preferred stock.

Also during the second quarter of 2003, we redeemed 4.0 million, or approximately 93%, of our 4.3 million shares of outstanding series A preferred stock at a price of $25.00 per
share plus accrued dividends to the redemption date as part of the recapitalization. Dividends continued to accrue on the shares redeemed at the face rate of 8% through the
redemption date on June 6, 2003. The redemption resulted in the reduction in series A preferred stock dividends in the second and third quarters of 2003 as compared to the same
quarters in the prior year. Dividends will continue to accrue on the remaining outstanding shares of series A preferred stock at the rate of 8% per year of the stated value of $25.00,
and are payable quarterly in arrears in cash.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections,” or SFAS 145. SFAS 145 rescinds Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 4, “Reporting Gains and
Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” which required all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt to be aggregated and, if material, classified as an extraordinary item, net of the
related income tax effect. As a result, the criteria in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions” will now be used to classify those gains and losses. The provisions of SFAS
145 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002, and interim periods within those fiscal years.

During the second quarter of 2002, prior to the required adoption of SFAS 145, we reported an extraordinary charge of approximately $36.7 million associated with the refinancing of
our senior debt in May 2002. Under SFAS 145, any gain or loss on extinguishment of debt that was classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods that does not meet the criteria
in APB 30 for classification as an extraordinary item shall be reclassified. We adopted SFAS 145 on January 1, 2003. Accordingly, the extraordinary charge reported in the second
quarter of 2002 was reclassified to a component of income (loss) from continuing operations in the statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2002.

On December 31, 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure,” or SFAS
148. SFAS 148 amends Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” or SFAS 123, to provide alternative methods of
transition to SFAS 123’s fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. SFAS 148 also amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123 and APB Opinion
No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting,” to require disclosure of the effects of an entity’s accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee compensation on reported net income
and earnings per share in annual and interim financial statements. While SFAS 148 does not amend SFAS 123 to require companies to account for employee stock options using the
fair value method, the disclosure provisions of SFAS 148 are applicable to all companies with stock-based employee compensation, regardless of whether they account for that
compensation using the fair value method of SFAS 123 or the intrinsic value method of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.”

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, or FIN 46. FIN 46 clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin
No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or in which equity investors
do not bear the residual economic risks. The interpretation was immediately applicable to variable interest entities (“VIE’s”) created after January 31, 2003, and to VIE’s in which an
enterprise obtains an interest after that date. As originally issued, it applied in the fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, to VIE’s in which an enterprise holds a
variable interest that was acquired before February 1, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 46-6, which defers the effective date for FIN 46 to the first
interim or annual period ending after December 15, 2003 for VIE’s created before February 1, 2003.
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We have determined that a joint venture, Agecroft Prison Management, Ltd., or APM, which was entered into by a wholly-owned subsidiary, is a VIE, of which we are not the
primary beneficiary. APM has a management contract for a correctional facility located in Salford, England. All gains and losses under the joint venture are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. During 2000, we extended a working capital loan to APM, which totaled $5.4 million, including accrued interest, as of September 30, 2003. The
outstanding working capital loan represents our maximum exposure to loss in connection with APM. APM has not been, and in accordance with FIN 46 will not be, consolidated with
our financial statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, “Amendment of SFAS No. 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” or SFAS
149. SFAS 149 amends and clarifies the accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under
SFAS 133. SFAS 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003, and should be applied
prospectively. The provisions of SFAS 149 that relate to SFAS 133 implementation issues that have been effective for fiscal quarters that began prior to June 15, 2003 should continue
to be applied in accordance with their respective effective dates. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 149 to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity,” or SFAS 150. This Statement establishes standards for classifying and measuring as liabilities certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. Instruments that are indexed to and potentially settled in an issuer’s own shares that are not within the scope of SFAS 150 remain subject
to existing guidance. SFAS 150 is effective for all freestanding financial instruments of public companies entered into or modified after May 31, 2003. SFAS 150 became effective at
the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 150 did not have a material impact on our financial statements.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has had or will have a direct adverse effect on our operations. Many of our management contracts include provisions for inflationary indexing, which
mitigates an adverse impact of inflation on net income. However, a substantial increase in personnel costs, workers’ compensation or food and medical expenses could have an
adverse impact on our results of operations in the future to the extent that these expenses increase at a faster pace than the per diem or fixed rates we receive for our management
services.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Our primary market risk exposure is to changes in U.S. interest rates and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the British pound. We are
exposed to market risk related to our senior bank credit facility. The interest on the senior bank credit facility is subject to fluctuations in the market. If the interest rate for our
outstanding indebtedness under the senior bank credit facility was 100 basis points higher or lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003, our interest expense
would have been increased or decreased by approximately $1.0 million and $4.1 million, respectively, including the effects of our interest rate cap agreement
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discussed below.

As of September 30, 2003, we had outstanding $250.0 million of senior notes with a fixed interest rate of 9.875%, $450.0 million of senior notes with a fixed rate of 7.5%,

$30.0 million of convertible subordinated notes with a fixed interest rate of 4.0%, $7.5 million of series A preferred stock with a fixed dividend rate of 8.0% and $23.5 million of
series B preferred stock with a fixed dividend rate of 12.0%. Because the interest and dividend rates with respect to these instruments are fixed, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase
or decrease in market interest rates would not have a material impact on our financial statements.

In order to satisfy a requirement of the senior bank credit facility, we purchased an interest rate cap agreement, capping LIBOR at 5.0% (prior to the applicable spread) on outstanding
balances of $200.0 million through the expiration of the cap agreement on May 20, 2004, for a price of $1.0 million.

‘We may, from time to time, invest our cash in a variety of short-term financial instruments. These instruments generally consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities at
the date of purchase between three and twelve months. While these investments are subject to interest rate risk and will decline in value if market interest rates increase, a
hypothetical 100 basis point increase or decrease in market interest rates would not materially affect the value of these investments.

Our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk relates to our Agecroft facility located in Salford, England, which we sold on April 10, 2001. We extended a working capital loan
to the operator of this facility, of which we own 50% through a wholly-owned subsidiary. Such payments to us are denominated in British pounds rather than the U.S. dollar. As a
result, we bear the risk of fluctuations in the relative exchange rate between the British pound and the U.S. dollar. At September 30, 2003, the receivables due to us and denominated
in British pounds totaled 3.3 million British pounds. A hypothetical 10% increase in the relative exchange rate would have resulted in an increase of $0.5 million in the value of these
receivables and a corresponding unrealized foreign currency transaction gain, and a hypothetical 10% decrease in the relative exchange rate would have resulted in a decrease of

$0.5 million in the value of these receivables and a corresponding unrealized foreign currency transaction loss.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as of the end of
the period covered by this quarterly report. Based on that evaluation, our senior management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that as of
the end of the period covered by this quarterly report our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in causing material information relating to us (including our consolidated
subsidiaries) to be recorded, processed, summarized and reported by management on a timely basis and to ensure that the quality and timeliness of our public disclosures complies
with SEC disclosure obligations. There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this report that have been
materially affected, or are likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

See Note 12 to the financial statements included in Part I.

ITEM 2. CHANGES IN SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.
See Notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements included in Part I.
Pursuant to the provisions of the Company’s Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan, on September 30, 2003, the Company issued an aggregate of 519 shares of its common

stock to three non-employee directors of the Company. The shares were issued in lieu of the payment of a portion of such directors’ quarterly cash director fees, based on a Fair
Market Value (as defined in the plan) of the shares of $24.54 per share. The shares issued under the plan on September 30, 2003 are not registered under the Securities Act.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

None.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
None.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

Audit Committee Matters.

Section 10A(i)(1) of the Exchange Act, as added by Section 202 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, requires that the Company’s Audit Committee (or one or more designated
members of the Audit Committee who are independent directors of the Company’s board of directors) pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided to the Company by its
external auditor, Ernst & Young LLP. Section 10A(i)(2) of the Exchange Act further requires that the Company disclose in its periodic reports required by Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act any non-audit services approved by the Audit Committee to be performed by Ernst & Young.

Consistent with the foregoing requirements, during the third quarter, the Company’s Audit Committee pre-approved the engagement of Ernst & Young for audit and audit-related
services, as defined by the SEC, for assistance with filing certain statements with the SEC. During the third quarter, the Company’s Audit Committee also pre-approved non-audit
services to be provided by Ernst & Young comprised of: (1) tax compliance; (2) tax consulting; and (3) the purchase of accounting research software.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

(a) Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed herewith:
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits
10.1 Third Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2003, by and among the Company, as Borrower, the several
Lenders from time to time party thereto, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as Syndication Agent, Société Généralé, as Documentation Agent, Lehman Brothers
Inc., as Arranger, and Lehman Commercial Paper Inc., as Administrative Agent for the Lenders.
31.1 Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
32.2 Certification of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

The following reports on Form 8-K were filed with the SEC during the period July 1, 2003 through September 30, 2003:

@)

@)

(©)

@

Filed July 24, 2003 (earliest event July 17, 2003) reporting in Item 5., the reissuance of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2002 and
2001 and for the two years ended December 31, 2002 to reclassify the operations of two of its facilities as discontinued, in accordance with SFAS 144, as well as the
reclassification of an extraordinary charge recorded in 2002 to a component of income (loss) from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change,
in accordance with SFAS 145.

Filed July 25, 2003 (earliest event July 24, 2003) reporting in Item 9., the issuance of a press release announcing the Company’s intention to issue through a private
placement to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act up to $275.0 million in aggregate principal amount of senior notes due 2013,
and in a separate announcement, that the Company expects to meet 2003 second quarter and full year guidance previously announced and that the Company is seeking
certain amendments to its senior secured credit facility.

Filed July 30, 2003 (earliest event July 30, 2003) reporting in Item 9., the issuance of a press release announcing the pricing of an offering of $200.0 million aggregate
principal amount of the Company’s 7.5% senior notes due 2011 to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

Filed August 6, 2003 (earliest event August 6, 2003) reporting in Item 12., the issuance of a press release announcing the Company’s financial results for the second
quarter ended June 30, 2003.
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The following reports on Form 8-K were filed with the SEC subsequent to September 30, 2003 and prior to the date of this report:

1) Filed November 5, 2003 (earliest event November 5, 2003) reporting in Item 12., the issuance of a press release announcing the Company’s financial results for the third
quarter ended September 30, 2003.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.
CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA
Date: November 13, 2003

/s/ John D. Ferguson

John D. Ferguson
President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Irving E. Lingo, Jr.

Irving E. Lingo, Jr.
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Assistant Secretary and Principal Accounting Officer
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EXHIBIT 10.1

EXECUTION COPY

THIRD AMENDMENT
TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
DATED AS OF AUGUST 8, 2003

This THIRD AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
(together with all Exhibits, Schedules and Annexes hereto, this "Amendment") is
among CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA, a Maryland corporation (the
"Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined below), DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC., as
Syndication Agent, and SOCIETE GENERALE, as Documentation Agent, LEHMAN BROTHERS
INC., as Arranger, and LEHMAN COMMERCIAL PAPER INC., as administrative agent for
the Lenders (in such capacity, the "Administrative Agent")

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

A. The Borrower, the lenders party thereto (the "Lenders"), the
Administrative Agent, Lehman Brothers Inc., as lead arranger and sole
book-running manager, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and UBS Warburg LLC, as
co-syndication agents, and Societe Generale, as documentation agent, have
entered into a Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 3,
2002, as amended (together with all Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules thereto, the
"Credit Agreement"; capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Credit Agreement);

B. The Borrower has advised the Lenders that it desires to issue
additional 2Q 2003 Senior Notes and apply the proceeds thereof to repay a
portion of the outstanding Tranche B Term Loans; and

C. The Borrower has requested that the Lenders (i) amend the Credit
Agreement to provide for (1) the incurrence under the Credit Agreement of new
Tranche C Term Loans, which will refinance, in full, all remaining outstanding
Tranche B Term Loans, (2) the elimination of certain mandatory prepayment
requirements and (3) certain other amendments more specifically described herein
and (ii) agree to release certain specified items of Collateral.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT. Subject to the satisfaction of the
conditions set forth in Section 4 hereof, the Credit Agreement is amended as
follows:

(a) The following new definitions are hereby added to Section
1.1 of the Credit Agreement in the appropriate alphabetical order:

"3Q 2003 Senior Note Documentation": the 2Q 2003 Senior
Note Indenture and the 3Q 2003 Senior Note Purchase Agreement, together
with any other instruments and agreements entered into by the Borrower
or its Subsidiaries in connection therewith, as the same may be
amended, supplemented, replaced or otherwise modified from time to time
in accordance with this Agreement.



"3Q 2003 Senior Note Purchase Agreement": the Purchase
Agreement, dated on July 29, 2003, entered into by the Borrower and
Lehman Brothers Inc., as the same may be amended, supplemented,
replaced or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with
this Agreement.

"Asset-Based Non-Recourse Indebtedness": Indebtedness
of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries as to which (1) no default with
respect thereto (including any rights that the holders thereof may have
to take enforcement action against the Borrower or any Subsidiary)
would permit, upon notice, lapse of time or both, any holder of any
other Indebtedness (other than the Indebtedness incurred under this
Credit Agreement) of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to declare
a default on such other Indebtedness or cause the payment thereof to be
accelerated or payable prior to its stated maturity (2) no default or
event of default under any other Indebtedness of the Borrower or any of
its Subsidiaries shall cause a default or event of default thereunder,
or give rise to any rights or remedies of the lenders thereunder, and
(3) the only recourse of the lenders thereunder will be to the assets
expressly permitted to be subject to a Lien thereunder pursuant to
Section 7.3(n).

"Third Amendment": the Third Amendment to the Third
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2003.

"Third Amendment Effective Date": the "Amendment Effective
Date", as defined in the Third Amendment.

"Tranche C Term Loan": as defined in Section 2.1.

"Tranche C Term Loan Commitment": as to any Tranche C
Term Loan Lender, the obligation of such Lender, if any, to make a Term
Loan to the Borrower hereunder, in a principal amount not to exceed the
amount set forth under the heading "Tranche C Term Loan Commitment"
opposite such Lender's name on Schedule 1 to the Lender Addendum
delivered by such Lender or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant
to which such Lender became a party hereto, as the same may be changed
from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof; provided that the
original aggregate amount of the Tranche C Loan Commitments is
$275,000, 000.

"Tranche C Term Loan Lender": each Lender that has a
Tranche C Term Loan Commitment or which is the holder of a Tranche C
Term Loan.

"Tranche C Term Loan Percentage": as to any Tranche C
Term Loan Lender at any time, the percentage which the aggregate
principal amount of such Lender's Tranche C Term Loans then outstanding
constitutes of the aggregate principal amount of the Tranche C Term
Loans then outstanding.

(b) Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
deleting the definitions of "Build-to-Suit Capital Expenditures," "Consolidated
Current Assets," "Consolidated Current Liabilities," "Consolidated Working
Capital," "Excess Cash Flow" and "Excess Cash Flow Application Date" in their
entirety.



(c) The definition of "Applicable Margin" contained in Section
1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the following sentence
at the end thereof: "The Applicable Margin with respect to Tranche C Term Loans
shall be 1.75% for Base Rate Loans and 2.75% for Eurodollar Loans, provided that
on and after the first Adjustment Date subsequent to the Third Amendment
Effective Date, the Applicable Margin with respect to Tranche C Term Loans will
be determined pursuant to the Pricing Grid."

(d) The definition of "Asset Sale" contained in Section 1.1 of
the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing the number "$5,000,000" with
"$15, 000,000".

(e) The definition of "Capital Expenditures" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the following
proviso at the end thereof: "; provided that (i) Capital Expenditures
constituting a Permitted Acquisition shall not be considered Capital
Expenditures for purposes of the definition of "Consolidated Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio" and Section 7.7 and (ii) Capital Expenditures made to expand
existing or construct new Prison Facilities shall not be considered Capital
Expenditures for purposes of the definition of "Consolidated Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio".

(f) The definition of "Commitment" contained in Section 1.1 of
the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the phrase "the Tranche C Loan
Commitment," immediately after the phrase "the Tranche B Loan Commitment,".

(g) The definition of "Consolidated EBITDA" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to: (i) insert the phrase
"or any assets released from all Liens permitted by Section 7.3(n)" immediately
after the words "acquired by the Borrower or its Subsidiaries" in clause (i) of
the proviso thereof; (ii) replace the parenthetical in clause (i) of the proviso
thereof with the following: "(assuming the consummation of such acquisition, or
the release of such Lien, as the case may be, and the incurrence or assumption,
or repayment, as the case may be, of any Indebtedness in connection therewith
occurred on the first day of such period)"; (iii) insert the phrase "or any
assets made subject to any Lien permitted by Section 7.3(n)" immediately after
the words "Disposed of by the Borrower or its Subsidiaries" in clause (ii) of
the proviso thereof; (iv) replace the parenthetical in clause (ii) of the
proviso thereof with the following: "(assuming the consummation of such
Disposition, or the creation of such Lien, as the case may be, and the
repayment, or incurrence or assumption, as the case may be, of any Indebtedness
in connection therewith occurred on the first day of such period)" and (v)
insert the phrase "and the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio" immediately
after the words "Consolidated Leverage Ratio" in clause (ii) of the proviso
thereof.

(h) The definition of "Consolidated Fixed Charges" contained
in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing clause
(iii) therein with the following new clause (iii): "(iii) scheduled payments of
Tranche C Term Loans after March 31, 2007".

(i) The definition of "Consolidated Funded Debt" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the phrase
"(except Asset-Based Non-Recourse Indebtedness permitted by Section 7.2(q))"
after the words "Funded Debt".



(j) The definition of "Consolidated Net Income" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the following
proviso at the end thereof:

"; provided, further, that, Consolidated Net Income shall
be calculated to exclude: (1) any gain or loss, together with any related
provision for taxes on such gain or loss, realized in connection with (A) any
Asset Sale or Recovery Event, (B) any disposition of securities by the Borrower
or any of its Subsidiaries and (C) the extinguishment or prepayment of any
Indebtedness of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (2) any extraordinary
gain or loss, together with any related provision for taxes on such
extraordinary gain or loss, (3) any impairment losses recorded on the
consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuant
to SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", or SFAS No. 144,
"Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets", (4) any loss
resulting from the change in fair value of a derivative financial instrument
recorded on the consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries pursuant to Section SFAS No. 133 "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities", (5) the cumulative effect of any changes in
GAAP, and (6) any Capital Stock-based compensation expense.

(k) The definition of "Consolidated Secured Funded Debt"
contained in Section 1.1. of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated
in its entirety as follows:

"Consolidated Secured Funded Debt": at any date, the sum
of (i) the aggregate principal amount of all Term Loans then
outstanding and (ii) the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding
Revolving Extensions of Credit.

(1) The definition of "Continuing Directors" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing the phrase
"on the Restatement Effective Date" with "on the Third Amendment Effective
Date".

(m) The definition of "Excluded Proceeds" contained in Section
1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the phrase "in respect
of the Webb County, Houston or Stewart facilities" with "in respect of Prison
Facilities".

(n) The definition of "Facility" contained in Section 1.1 of
the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to (i) re-letter clause (c) as clause (d)
and (ii) insert the following new clause (c): "(c) the Tranche C Term Loan
Commitments and the Tranche C Term Loans made thereunder (the "Tranche C Term
Loan Facility"),".

(o) The definition of "Interest Period" contained in Section
1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the phrase "or the
Tranche B Term Loans" with the following phrase: ", the Tranche B Term Loans or
the Tranche C Term Loans".

(p) The definition of "L/C Commitment" contained in Section
1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing the number
"$50,000,000" with "$75,000,000".

(q) The definition of "Material Debt Instruments" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing the phrase
"and the 2Q 2003 Senior Note Documentation" with ", the 2Q Senior Note
Documentation and the 3Q 2003 Senior Note Documentation".



(r) The definition of "Mortgaged Properties" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert the phrase "as
of the Third Amendment Effective Date" after the phrase "Schedule 1.1".

(s) The definition of "Qualified Trust Indebtedness" contained
in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing the term "
Tranche B Term Loans" with the term "Tranche C Term Loans".

(t) The definition of "Qualified Trust Preferred Stock"
contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing
the term " Tranche B Term Loans" with the term "Tranche C Term Loans".

(u) The definition of "Subsidiary Guarantor" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated as follows:

"Subsidiary Guarantor": Each Subsidiary of the Borrower
party to the Guarantee and Security Agreement as of the Third Amendment
Effective Date and each Subsidiary of the Borrower that becomes a party
to the Guarantee and Security Agreement subsequent to the Third
Amendment Effective Date pursuant to Section 6.10.

(v) The definition of "Term Loan Facilities" contained in
Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (i) replacing the word
"and" with "," and (ii) inserting "and the Tranche C Term Loan Facility" at the
end thereof.

(w) The definition of "Term Loan Lenders" contained in Section
1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (i) replacing the word "and"
with "," and (ii) inserting "and the Tranche C Term Loan Lenders" at the end
thereof.

(x) The definition of "Term Loans" contained in Section 1.1 of
the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (i) replacing the word "and" with ","
and (ii) inserting "and the Tranche C Term Loans" at the end thereof.

(y) The definition of "Total Revolving Credit Commitments"
contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing
the proviso therein with the following new proviso: "provided that the amount of
the Total Revolving Credit Commitments on the Third Amendment Effective Date
shall be equal to the sum of $75,000,000 plus any additional Revolving Credit
Commitments received by the Administrative Agent on or prior to the Third
Amendment Effective Date (provided that such additional Revolving Credit
Commitments shall not exceed $50,000,000), as such amount may be increased in
accordance with Section 2.4(c)".

(z) The first sentence of Section 2.1 of the Credit Agreement
is hereby amended by (i) replacing the word "and" immediately preceding clause
(b) thereof with "," and inserting the following new clause (c) after the end
thereof: "and (c) subject to the terms and conditions of the Third Amendment,
each Tranche C Term Loan Lender severally agrees to make a term loan on the
Third Amendment Effective Date (a "Tranche C Term Loan") in an amount not to
exceed the amount of the Tranche C Term Loan Commitment of such Lender" and (ii)
adding the following sentences immediately after such first sentence: "In
addition, provided that no Default of Event or Default shall have occurred and
be continuing, the Borrower shall be entitled to request an increase



in the Tranche C Term Loan Commitments of up to $100, 000,000 (reduced by the
amount of any increase in the Total Revolving Credit Commitments pursuant to
Section 2.4(c) after the Third Amendment Effective Date) in the aggregate at any
time on or after the Third Amendment Effective Date, with the written consent of
the Administrative Agent but without any consent from the Lenders, except the
Lenders providing all or part of the increased amount; and this Credit Agreement
may be amended by an agreement between the Borrower and the Administrative
Agent, without the need for any further approval or consent from the Lenders or
the other Agents, to the extent that the Administrative Agent determines to be
necessary to effectuate such increase."

(aa) Section 2.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
inserting the following new clause (iii):

"(iii) The Borrower shall give the Administrative Agent
irrevocable Notice of Borrowing (which notice must be received by the
Administrative Agent prior to 12:00 noon, New York City time, one
Business Day prior to the anticipated Third Amendment Effective Date)
requesting that the Tranche C Term Loan Lenders make the Tranche C Term
Loans on the Third Amendment Effective Date and specifying the amount
to be borrowed. The Tranche C Term Loans made on the Third Amendment
Effective Date shall initially be Base Rate Loans. Upon receipt of such
notice the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Tranche C
Term Loan Lender thereof. Not later than 12:00 noon, New York City
time, on the Third Amendment Effective Date each Tranche C Term Loan
Lender shall make available to the Administrative Agent at the Funding
Office an amount in immediately available funds equal to the Tranche C
Term Loan to be made by such Lender. The Administrative Agent shall
make available to the Borrower the aggregate of amounts made available
to the Administrative Agent by the Tranche C Term Loan Lenders in like
funds. Tranche C Term Loan Commitments in existence on the Third
Amendment Effective Date and not funded on the Third Amendment
Effective Date will terminate on such date. To the extent that Tranche
B Term Loans are repaid with proceeds of Tranche C Term Loans, such
Tranche B Term Loans shall be deemed to have been assigned and
transferred to the Tranche C Term Loan Lenders (to be allocated amongst
such Lenders at the Administrative Agent's discretion) and thereafter
shall be outstanding as Tranche C Term Loans held by the Tranche C Term
Loan Lenders subject to and in accordance with all terms, conditions
and provisions of this Agreement applicable to the Tranche C Term
Loans."

(bb) Section 2.3 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
inserting the following clause (c) at the end thereof:

"(c) The Tranche C Term Loan of each Tranche C Term
Loan Lender shall mature in 19 consecutive quarterly installments,
commencing on September 30, 2003, each of which shall be in a amount
equal to such Lender's Tranche C Term Loan Percentage multiplied by the
amount set forth below opposite such installment (which amount shall be
reduced as the result of the application of prepayments in accordance
with Section 2.18):

Installment Principal Amount

September 30, 2003 $687, 500



Installment

December 31, 2003
March 31, 2004
June 30, 2004
September 30, 2004
December 31, 2004
March 31, 2005
June 30, 2005
September 30, 2005
December 31, 2005
March 31, 2006
June 30, 2006
September 30, 2006
December 31, 2006
March 31, 2007
June 30, 2007
September 30, 2007
December 31, 2007
March 31, 2008

$50, 000, 000)".

Amendment Effective Date the Borrower may convert at
of the Tranche C Term Loans into a single Eurodollar
August 22, 2003 (the maturity date of the Borrower's
Agreement in effect on the Third Amendment Effective
the Administrative Agent at least two Business Days'
notice of such election and each Tranche C Term Loan
make its pro rata share of such a Eurodollar Tranche
the Interest Period for

Borrower.

Principal Amount

R R R i

687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500
687,500

$66,171, 875
$66,171,875
$66,171,875
$66,171,875

(cc) Section 2.4(c) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by (i) replacing the phrase "Second Amendment Effective Date" with "Third
Amendment Effective Date" and (ii) replacing the number "$35,000,000" with
"$50, 000,000 (reduced by the amount of any increase in the Tranche C Term Loan
Commitments on or after the Third Amendment Effective Date in excess of

(dd) Section 2.13 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to
insert the following new section (c):

"(c) In addition to the foregoing,

For purposes of this subsection (c),

after the Third

least $200,000,000
Tranche maturing
interest Hedge
Date) by giving
prior irrevocable
Lender agrees to
available to the

such Eurodollar Tranche shall be the period commencing on the date of
such conversion and ending on August 22, 2003, and the Eurodollar Base
Rate for such Eurodollar Tranche shall be the Eurodollar Base Rate for
a period most nearly corresponding to such Interest Period."

Loans shall be applied to the installments of such Tranche C Term Loans,

in direct order of

(ee) Section 2.18 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to
insert (i) the phrase "Tranche C Term Loan Percentages," in clause (a)
immediately after the phrase "Tranche B Term Loan Percentages," and (ii) the
following proviso at the end of the penultimate sentence of clause (b):
"provided that each payment (including each prepayment) of the Tranche C Term

first,



maturity for the four quarterly installments due immediately after the date of
such payment and, second, with respect to any remainder, to the remaining
installments thereof in inverse order of maturity."

(ff) Section 4.16 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
inserting the following sentence at the end thereof: "The proceeds of the
Tranche C Term Loans to be drawn on the Third Amendment Effective Date shall be
used to repay in full on the Third Amendment Effective Date the Tranche B Term
Loans."

(gg) Section 6.9 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and
restated as follows: "[Intentionally Omitted]."

(hh) Section 6.10 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
and restated as set forth on Annex 2 hereto.

(ii) The Consolidated Leverage Ratios set forth opposite the
fiscal quarters set forth below in Section 7.1(a) of the Credit Agreement are
hereby amended as follows:

Consolidated
Fiscal Quarter Leverage Ratio

FQ2 2003 5.90:1.00
FQ3 2003 5.90:1.00
FQ4 2003 5.90:1.00
FQ1 2004 5.90:1.00
FQ2 2004 5.90:1.00
FQ3 2004 5.75:1.00
FQ4 2004 5.50:1.00
FQ1 2005 5.50:1.00
FQ2 2005 5.25:1.00
FQ3 2005 5.25:1.00
FQ4 2005 5.00:1.00
FQ1 2006 5.00:1.00
FQ2 2006 5.00:1.00
FQ3 2006 4.75:1.00
FQ4 2006 4.75:1.00
FQ1 2007 4.50:1.00
FQ2 2007 4.50:1.00
FQ3 2007 4.50:1.00
FQ4 2007 4.50:1.00
FQ1 2008 4.50:1.00
FQ2 2008 4.50:1.00
FQ3 2008 4.50:1.00
FQ4 2008 4.50:1.00



(jj) The Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratios set forth
opposite the fiscal quarters set forth below in Section 7.1(b) of the Credit
Agreement are hereby amended as follows:

Consolidated Interest

Fiscal Quarter Coverage Ratio
FQ2 2003 2.15:1.00
FQ3 2003 2.15:1.00
FQ4 2003 2.15:1.00
FQ1l 2004 2.15:1.00
FQ2 2004 2.15:1.00
FQ3 2004 2.25:1.00
FQ4 2004 2.25:1.00
FQ1 2005 2.25:1.00
FQ2 2005 2.25:1.00
FQ3 2005 2.25:1.00
FQ4 2005 2.25:1.00
FQ1 2006 2.25:1.00
FQ2 2006 2.25:1.00
FQ3 2006 2.50:1.00
FQ4 2006 2.50:1.00
FQ1 2007 2.50:1.00
FQ2 2007 2.50:1.00
FQ3 2007 2.50:1.00
FQ4 2007 2.50:1.00
FQ1 2008 2.50:1.00
FQ2 2008 2.50:1.00
FQ3 2008 2.50:1.00
FQ4 2008 2.50:1.00

(kk) The Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratios set forth
opposite the fiscal quarters set forth below in Section 7.1(c) of the Credit
Agreement are hereby amended as follows:

Consolidated Fixed

Fiscal Quarter Charge Coverage Ratio
FQ2 2003 1.25:1.00
FQ3 2003 1.25:1.00
FQ4 2003 1.25:1.00
FQ1 2004 1.25:1.00
FQ2 2004 1.25:1.00
FQ3 2004 1.25:1.00
FQ4 2004 1.25:1.00



Consolidated Fixed

Fiscal Quarter Charge Coverage Ratio
FQ1 2005 1.25:1.00
FQ2 2005 1.25:1.00
FQ3 2005 1.25:1.00
FQ4 2005 1.50:1.00
FQ1 2006 1.50:1.00
FQ2 2006 1.50:1.00
FQ3 2006 1.50:1.00
FQ4 2006 1.50:1.00
FQ1 2007 1.50:1.00
FQ2 2007 1.50:1.00
FQ3 2007 1.50:1.00
FQ4 2007 1.50:1.00
FQ1 2008 1.50:1.00
FQ2 2008 1.50:1.00
FQ3 2008 1.50:1.00
FQ4 2008 1.50:1.00

(11) Section 7.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby further
amended by (i) re-lettering clause (d) as clause (e) and (ii) inserting the
following new clause (d):

"(d) Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio. Permit the
Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio as of the last day of any period of
four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrower to exceed 2.50 to
1.00."

(mm) Section 7.2(c) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by replacing the number "$15,000,000" with "$30,000,000".

(nn) Section 7.2(g) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by replacing the number "$50,000,000" with "$100,000,000".

(o0) Section 7.2(h) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by replacing clause (ii) thereof with the following new clause (ii):

"(ii) to make Capital Expenditures with respect to any
Prison Facility permitted by Section 7.7 in an aggregate amount not
exceeding $25,000,000 per fiscal year;"

(pp) Section 7.2(p) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
and restated in its entirety as follows:

"(p) unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower created
under the 2Q 2003 Senior Note Indenture in respect of the 2Q 2003
Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed
$500, 000,000 and Guarantee Obligations of any Subsidiary Guarantor in
respect of such Indebtedness;"



(qq) Section 7.2(q) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by replacing the word "indebtedness" in the first line thereof with
"Indebtedness" and by replacing the number "$50,000,000" with "$150,000,000".

(rr) Section 7.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
(1) deleting the word "and" at the end of clause (p), (ii) re-lettering clause
"(q)" thereof as clause "(r)" and (iii) inserting the following new clause (q):

"(gq) Asset-Based Non-Recourse Indebtedness, in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent,
secured by liens permitted by Section 7.3(n), in an aggregate principal
amount not to exceed $100,000,000; and"

(ss) Section 7.3 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
(i) deleting the word "and" at the end of clause (1) thereof, (ii) replacing the
"." at the end of clause (m) thereof with "; and" and (iii) inserting the
following new clause (n):

"(n) Liens on assets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries
to secure Asset-Based Non-Recourse Indebtedness which assets are not
subject to the Liens created pursuant to the Security Documents."

(tt) Section 7.5 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
(1) deleting the word "and" at the end of clause (1) thereof, (ii) replacing the
"." at the end of clause (m) thereof with "; and" and (iii) inserting the
following new clause (n):

"(n) the Disposition of assets not constituting
Collateral to a Subsidiary that is not a Subsidiary Guarantor to be
used as security for Asset-Based Non-Recourse Indebtedness as
contemplated by Sections 7.3(n) and 7.2(q)."

(uu) Section 7.6(1i) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by replacing the number "$5,000,000" with "$25,000,000".

(vv) Section 7.7(a) of the Credit Agreement is deleted in its
entirety and replaced with the following:

"(a) Capital Expenditures by the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries in an aggregate amount in any one fiscal year not to
exceed the sum of (x) $100,000,000 and (y) 50% of positive Consolidated
Net Income for the immediately preceding fiscal year; provided, that
(x) up to 50% of any such amount referred to in this clause (a), if not
so expended in the fiscal year for which it is permitted, may be
carried over for expenditure in the next succeeding fiscal year and (y)
Capital Expenditures made pursuant to this clause (a) during any fiscal
year as provided above shall be deemed made, first, in respect of
amounts permitted for such year as provided above and, second, in
respect of amounts carried over from the prior fiscal year pursuant to
subclause (x) above;"

(ww) Section 7.7 of the Credit Agreement is hereby further
amended by amending and restating clause (c) in its entirety as follows:



"(c) Capital Expenditures made with the proceeds of any
Asset-Based Non-Recourse Indebtedness permitted by Section 7.2(q))"

(xx) Section 7.8(g) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by (i) deleting the phrase "if at the time such Investment is made and after
giving effect thereto, the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio for the
immediately preceding twelve-month period is less than 2.85 to 1.00,", (ii)
replacing the number "$75,000,0000" in subclause (v) thereof with "$100,000,000"
and (iii) deleting the phrase "either with respect to any individual Permitted
Acquisition or" from subclause (v) thereof.

(yy) Section 7.8(m) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by replacing the number "$20,000,000" with "$75,000,000".

(zz) Section 7.8 of the Credit Agreement is hereby further
amended by (i) deleting the word "and" at the end of clause (1) thereof, (ii)
replacing the "." at the end of clause (m) thereof with "; and" and (iii)
inserting the following new clause (n):

"(n) Dispositions permitted by Section 7.5(n)."

(aaa) Section 7.9(a)(i) of the Credit Agreement is hereby
amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

"(1) purchase the Borrower's series A preferred stock and series B
preferred stock as permitted by Section 7.6(h) and otherwise
purchase preferred stock of the Borrower in aggregate amount not to
exceed $5,000,000 per fiscal year (or, if at the time such
prepayment is made and after giving effect thereto, the Consolidated
Secured Leverage Ratio is less than 2.50 to 1.00 for the immediately
preceding twelve-month period, $10,000,000 per such fiscal year),"

(bbb) Annex A to the Credit Agreement is hereby replaced with
the Annex A attached hereto as Annex 5.

(ccc) Exhibit G-1 to the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to
insert "[C]" after "[A] [B]" throughout such Exhibit.

(ddd) Schedule 1.1 to the Credit Agreement is hereby replaced
with the Schedule 1.1 attached hereto as Annex 4.

2. AGREEMENTS OF REQUIRED PREPAYMENT LENDERS. The Required Prepayment
Lenders hereby agree that from and after the Third Amendment Effective Date, no
mandatory prepayments of the Loans shall be required (i) from the issuance of
any Capital Stock, (ii) with respect to any Indebtedness incurred in accordance
with Section 7.2 as in effect on the Third Amendment Effective Date, the
proceeds of which are used in compliance with the applicable requirements
thereof or (iii) from any Excess Cash Flow.

3. RELEASE OF COLLATERAL. The Agents and the Lenders hereby agree that,
upon the effectiveness of the amendments contained in Section 1 of this
Amendment, the Administrative Agent is authorized to execute and deliver to the
Borrower and any other applicable Grantor (as



such term is defined in the Guarantee and Security Agreement), at the Borrower's
or such other Grantor's expense, such documents and instruments as may be
reasonably requested by the Borrower or such Grantor to evidence the release of
the specific items of Collateral listed on Annex 3 (the "Released Collateral").

4, CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS. The effectiveness of the amendments
contained in Section 1 of this Amendment, except the amendment contained in
Section 1(x) above, the agreements contained in Section 2 of this Amendment and
the release of collateral contained in Section 3 of this Amendment are
conditioned upon satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, except
clause (i) (the date on which all such conditions other than clause (i) have
been satisfied being referred to herein as the "Amendment Effective Date"), and
the effectiveness of the amendment contained in Section 1(x) is conditioned upon
satisfaction of all of the following conditions precedent:

(a) the Administrative Agent shall have received signed
written authorization from the requisite Lenders to execute this Amendment, and
shall have received counterparts of this Amendment signed by the Borrower and
the Agents, and counterparts of the consent of the Guarantors attached hereto as
Annex 1 (the "Consent") executed by each of the Subsidiary Guarantors;

(b) each of the representations and warranties in Section 5
below shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
Amendment Effective Date;

(c) the Administrative Agent shall have received payment in
immediately available funds of all expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent
(including, without limitation, legal fees) for which invoices have been
presented, on or before the Amendment Effective Date;

(d) the Administrative Agent shall have received the executed
legal opinions of each of Bass, Berry & Sims PLC, Miles & Stockbridge and Kaye
Scholer LLP, counsel to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, regarding customary
matters (including, without limitation, the enforceability of this Amendment and
the Credit Agreement, as amended, against all parties thereto, and no conflict
with law or material agreements);

(e) the Administrative Agent shall have received true and
correct copies, certified as to authenticity by the Borrower, of the 3Q 2003
Senior Note Documentation;

(f) the Borrower shall have consummated the issuance of the 2Q
2003 Senior Notes to be issued pursuant to the 3Q 2003 Senior Note Documentation
and all aspects of such issuance and all documentation related thereto shall be
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent;

(g) the Administrative Agent shall have received (1)
additional commitments from banks and other financial institutions with respect
to the Tranche C Term Loans in an aggregate principal amount equal to
$275,000,000 and (ii) a fully executed Lender Addendum with respect to each such
bank or other financial institution committing to fund such Tranche C Term Loans
(and pursuant to which on the Third Amendment Effective Date such bank or other
financial



institution shall become a Tranche C Term Loan Lender, for all purposes under
the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents);

(h) the Administrative Agent shall be satisfied that,
simultaneously with the borrowing of the Tranche C Term Loans on the Amendment
Effective Date, the Tranche B Term Loans will be repaid in full by the Borrower;

(i) the Administrative Agent shall have received (1)
additional commitments from banks and other financial institutions with respect
to the Revolving Credit Loans and (ii) a fully executed Lender Addendum with
respect to each such bank or other financial institution committing to fund such
Revolving Credit Loans (and pursuant to which on the Third Amendment Effective
Date such bank or other financial institution shall become a Revolving Credit
Lender for all purposes under the Credit Agreement and the other Loan
Documents); and

(j) the Administrative Agent shall have received such other
documents, instruments, certificates, opinions and approvals as it may
reasonably request.

5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. The Borrower represents and warrants to
the Administrative Agent and the Lenders as follows:

(a) Authority. The Borrower has the requisite corporate power
and authority to execute and deliver this Amendment and to perform its
obligations hereunder and under the Credit Agreement (as modified hereby). Each
of the Subsidiary Guarantors has the requisite corporate or other organizational
power and authority to execute and deliver the Consent. The execution, delivery
and performance (i) by the Borrower of this Amendment and the Credit Agreement
(as modified hereby) and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and
(ii) by the Subsidiary Guarantors of the Consent, in each case, have been duly
approved by all necessary corporate or other organizational action of such
Person, and no other corporate or other organizational proceedings on the part
of each such Person are necessary to consummate such transactions.

(b) Enforceability. This Amendment has been duly executed and
delivered by the Borrower. The Consent has been duly executed and delivered by
each of the Subsidiary Guarantors. Each of this Amendment, the Consent and,
after giving effect to this Amendment, the Credit Agreement and the other Loan
Documents, (i) is the legal, valid and binding obligation of each Loan Party
party hereto and thereto, enforceable against such Loan Party in accordance with
its terms, except as may be limited by general equitable principles (whether
enforcement is sought by proceedings in equity or at law) and (ii) is in full
force and effect. Neither the execution, delivery or performance of this
Amendment or of the Consent or the performance of the Credit Agreement (as
modified hereby), nor the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby, will adversely affect the validity, perfection or priority of the
Administrative Agent's Lien on any of the Collateral (other than the Released
Collateral) or its ability to realize thereon. This Amendment is effective to
amend the Credit Agreement as provided therein (assuming the due authorization,
execution and delivery of this Amendment (or the accompanying consent) by each
Lender party or consenting hereto).

(c) Representations and Warranties. After giving effect to
this Amendment, the representations and warranties contained in the Credit
Agreement and the other Loan Documents



(other than any such representations and warranties that, by their terms, are
specifically made as of a date other than the date hereof) are true and correct
in all material respects on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as
of the date hereof.

(d) No Conflicts. Neither the execution and delivery of this
Amendment or the Consent, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby, nor the performance of and compliance with the terms and
provisions hereof or of the Credit Agreement (as modified hereby) by any Loan
Party will, at the time of such performance, (a) violate or conflict with any
provision of its articles or certificate of incorporation or bylaws or other
organizational or governing documents of such Person, (b) violate, contravene or
materially conflict with any Requirement of Law or any other law, regulation
(including, without limitation, Regulation U or Regulation X), order, writ,
judgment, injunction, decree or permit applicable to it, except for any
violation, contravention or conflict which could not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect, (c) (i) violate, contravene or conflict with the
contractual provisions of, or cause an event of default under, any Loan Document
or (ii) violate, contravene or conflict with the contractual provisions of, or
cause an event of default under any other loan agreement, indenture, mortgage,
deed of trust, contract or other agreement or instrument to which it is a party
or by which it may be bound or (d) result in or require the creation of any Lien
(other than those contemplated in or created in connection with the Loan
Documents) upon or with respect to its properties. No consent or authorization
of, filing with, notice to or other act by or in respect of, any Governmental
Authority or any other Person is required in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby.

(e) No Default. Both before and after giving effect to this
Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby, no event has occurred and is
continuing that constitutes a Default or Event of Default.

6. REFERENCE TO AND EFFECT ON CREDIT AGREEMENT.

(a) Upon and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each
reference in the Credit Agreement to "this Agreement", "hereunder", "hereof" or
words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in
the other Loan Documents to "the Credit Agreement", "thereunder", "thereof" or
words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a
reference to the Credit Agreement as modified hereby. This Amendment is a Loan
Document.

(b) Except as specifically modified above, the Credit
Agreement and the other Loan Documents are and shall continue to be in full
force and effect and are hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Security Documents and all of the
Collateral described therein (other than the Released Collateral) do and shall
continue to secure the payment of all Obligations under and as defined therein,
in each case as modified hereby.

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this
Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver of
any right, power or remedy of any Secured Party under any of the Loan Documents,
nor, except as expressly provided herein, constitute a waiver or amendment of
any provision of any of the Loan Documents.



7. COUNTERPARTS. This Amendment may be executed in any number of
counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of
which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all
of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of
an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by facsimile shall
be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.

8. SEVERABILITY. Any provision of this Amendment that is prohibited or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective
to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the
remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any
jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any
other jurisdiction.

9. GOVERNING LAW. This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

[Signature pages follow]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be
executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date
first written above.

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA,
as Borrower

LEHMAN COMMERCIAL PAPER INC.,
as Administrative Agent

LEHMAN BROTHERS INC.,
as Arranger

[signatures continued next page]



DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC., as
Syndication Agent

SOCIETE GENERALE, as
Documentation Agent



Annex 1
CONSENT OF GUARANTORS

Each of the undersigned is a Subsidiary Guarantor of the Obligations of the
Borrower under the Credit Agreement and hereby (a) consents to the foregoing
Amendment, (b) acknowledges that notwithstanding the execution and delivery of
the foregoing Amendment, the obligations of each of the undersigned Subsidiary
Guarantors are not impaired or affected and all guaranties given to the holders
of Obligations and all Liens granted as security for the Obligations continue in
full force and effect, and (c) confirms and ratifies its obligations under the
Guaranty and Security Agreement and each other Loan Document executed by it.
Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings given
to such terms in the Amendment to which this Consent is attached or in the
Credit Agreement referred to therein, as applicable.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed and
delivered this Consent of Guarantors as of the 8th day of August 2003.

CCA OF TENNESSEE, INC.

PRISON REALTY MANAGEMENT, INC.

TECHNICAL AND BUSINESS INSTITUTE OF AMERICA, INC.
CCA INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CCA PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, LLC

CCA PROPERTIES OF ARIZONA, LLC

CCA PROPERTIES OF TENNESSEE, LLC

By
Name: John D. Ferguson
Title: Chief Executive Officer

CCA PROPERTIES OF TEXAS, L.P.

By

Name: John D. Ferguson
Title: Chief Executive Officer, CCA Properties of
America, LLC, as General Partner

[Signatures continued next page]



TRANSCOR AMERICA LLC

By
Name: Todd J. Mullenger
Title: Vice President, Treasurer

RONALD LEE SUTTLES TRI-COUNTY EXTRADITION,

Name: Todd J. Mullenger
Title: Vice President, Treasurer

INC.



Annex 2

6.10. Additional Collateral, etc. (a) With respect to any Property
acquired after the Restatement Effective Date by the Borrower or any Subsidiary
Guarantor or, in the case of inventory or equipment, any Property moved after
the Restatement Effective Date by the Borrower or any Subsidiary Guarantor
(other than (x) any Real Estate (the Loan Parties' obligations with respect to
which are set forth below in paragraph (b) of this Section) and any Property
described in paragraphs (c) or (d) of this Section, (y) any Property subject to
a Lien expressly permitted by Sections 7.3(f) or (n) and (z) Property acquired
by an Excluded Foreign Subsidiary) as to which the Administrative Agent, for the
benefit of the Secured Parties, does not have a perfected security interest,
promptly (and, in any event, within 30 days following the date of such
acquisition) (i) execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent such amendments
to the Guarantee and Security Agreement or such other documents as the
Administrative Agent deems necessary or advisable to grant to the Administrative
Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a security interest in such
Property and (ii) take all actions necessary or advisable to grant to the
Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a perfected first
priority security interest in such Property, including, without limitation, the
filing of UCC financing statements in such jurisdictions as may be required by
the Guarantee and Security Agreement or by law or as may be requested by the
Administrative Agent.

(b) With respect to (1) any fee interest in any Real Estate
having a value (together with improvements thereof) of at least $4,000,000 or
any lease of Real Estate contemplating an initial annual rent payment, including
projected percentage rent, after the expiration of any free rent or "rent
abatement" period, of at least $400,000, acquired or leased after the
Restatement Effective Date with the proceeds of Tranche C Term Loans or with
proceeds from Asset Sales of Collateral constituting Reinvestment Deferred
Amounts or, if such fee interest or lease was previously financed with proceeds
of Tranche C Term Loans or with proceeds from Assets Sales of Collateral
constituting Reinvestment Deferred Amounts, fee interests or leases thereafter
attaining such a value or rent threshold, as the case may be, by the Borrower or
any of its Subsidiaries (other than any such real property owned by an Excluded
Foreign Subsidiary or subject to a Lien expressly permitted by Sections 7.3(f)
or (n)) and (2) any Real Estate that at any time, in the Administrative Agent's
determination, becomes legally or operationally advantageous to aggregate with
adjacent or nearby Mortgaged Property, promptly (and, in any event, within 30
days following the date of such acquisition or determination) (i) execute and
deliver a first priority Mortgage in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the
benefit of the Secured Parties, covering such real property complying with the
provisions of Section 5.1(r), (ii) if requested by the Administrative Agent,
provide the Secured Parties with (x) title and extended coverage insurance
covering such real property in an amount at least equal to the purchase price of
such real property (or such other amount as shall be reasonably specified by the
Administrative Agent) as well as a current ALTA survey thereof complying with
the provisions of Section 5.1(q), together with a surveyor's certificate and (y)
any consents or estoppels reasonably deemed necessary or advisable by the
Administrative Agent in connection with such Mortgage, each of the foregoing in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (iii)
if requested by the Administrative Agent, deliver to the Administrative Agent
legal opinions relating to the matters described above, which opinions shall be
in form and substance, and from counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent.



(c) If the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than an
Excluded Foreign Subsidiary) (x) acquires or invests in any new Subsidiary
(other than an Excluded Foreign Subsidiary) with the proceeds of Tranche C Term
Loans or with proceeds from Asset Sales of Collateral constituting Reinvestment
Deferred Amounts or (y) otherwise elects to cause any existing Subsidiary that
is not a Subsidiary Guarantor or any new Subsidiary (in each case, other than an
Excluded Foreign Subsidiary) created or acquired after the Restatement Effective
Date (which, for the purposes of this paragraph, shall include any existing
Subsidiary that ceases to be an Excluded Foreign Subsidiary) with other than the
proceeds of Tranche C Term Loans or proceeds from Asset Sales of Collateral
constituting Reinvestment Deferred Amounts to become a Subsidiary Guarantor
under the Guarantee and Security Agreement, promptly (and, in any event, within
30 days following such creation or the date of such acquisition or election) (i)
execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent such amendments to the Guarantee
and Security Agreement as the Administrative Agent deems necessary or advisable
to grant to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a
perfected first priority security interest in the Capital Stock of such
Subsidiary that is owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii)
deliver to the Administrative Agent the certificates representing such Capital
Stock, together with undated stock powers, in blank, executed and delivered by a
duly authorized officer of the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as the case may be,
(iii) cause such Subsidiary (A) to become a party to the Guarantee and Security
Agreement, an Intellectual Property Security Agreement and the Subordinated
Intercompany Note and (B) to take such actions necessary or advisable to grant
to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties a perfected
first priority security interest in the Collateral described in the Guarantee
and Security Agreement with respect to such Subsidiary, including, without
limitation, the recording of an Intellectual Property Security Agreement and any
other instruments in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the
United States Copyright Office, the execution and delivery by all necessary
Persons of Control Agreements and the filing of UCC financing statements in such
jurisdictions as may be required by the Guarantee and Security Agreement or the
Intellectual Property Security Agreement or by law or as may be requested by the
Administrative Agent, and (iv) if requested by the Administrative Agent, deliver
to the Administrative Agent legal opinions relating to the matters described
above, which opinions shall be in form and substance, and from counsel,
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(d) with respect to any new Excluded Foreign Subsidiary
created or acquired after the Restatement Effective Date by the Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries with the proceeds of Tranche C Term Loans or with the
proceeds of Asset Sales of Collateral constituting Reinvestment Deferred
Amounts, promptly (and, in any event, within 30 days following such creation or
the date of such acquisition) (i) execute and deliver to the Administrative
Agent such amendments to the Guarantee and Security Agreement as the
Administrative Agent deems necessary or advisable in order to grant to the
Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a perfected first
priority security interest in the Capital Stock of such new Excluded Foreign
Subsidiary that is owned by the Borrower or any of its Domestic Subsidiaries
(provided that in no event shall more than 65% of the total outstanding Capital
Stock of any such new Excluded Foreign Subsidiary be required to be so pledged),
(ii) deliver to the Administrative Agent the certificates representing such
Capital Stock, together with undated stock powers, in blank, executed and
delivered by a duly authorized officer of the Borrower or such Domestic
Subsidiary, as the case may be, and take such other action as may be necessary
or, in the opinion of the Administrative Agent, desirable to perfect the
security interest of the Administrative Agent



therein, (iii) cause such new Excluded Foreign Subsidiary to become a party to
the Subordinated Intercompany Note, and (iv) if requested by the Administrative
Agent, deliver to the Administrative Agent legal opinions relating to the
matters described above, which opinions shall be in form and substance, and from
counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section
6.10, paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) of this Section 6.10 shall not apply to
any Property, new Subsidiary or new Excluded Foreign Subsidiary created or
acquired after the Restatement Effective Date, as applicable, as to which the
Administrative Agent has determined in its sole discretion that the collateral
value thereof is insufficient to justify the difficulty, time and/or expense of
obtaining a perfected security interest therein.



Annex 3

COLLATERAL TO BE RELEASED

PROPERTY ADDRESS

Bridgeport Pre-Parole Transfer Facility 222 Lake Road
Bridgeport, TX 76426

Community Education Partners (Houston) 8555 Gulf Freeway
Houston, TX 77007

Leo Chesney Correctional Center 2788 & 2800 Apricot Drive
Live Oak, CA 95953

North Fork Correctional Facility 1605 East Main
Sayre, OK 73662-3122

Northeast Ohio Correctional Center 2240 Hubbard Road
Youngstown, OH 44505

Stewart County Correctional Facility 1246 Trotman Road
Lumpkin, GA 31815

TransCor Office Building 646 Melrose Avenue
Nashville, TN 37211-2161



NEW SCHEDULE 1.1

PROPERTY

Bent County Correctional Facility

California City Correctional Facility

Central Arizona Detention Center

Cibola County Correctional Facility

Cimarron Correctional Facility

Coffee Correctional Facility

Crossroads Correctional Facility

Crowley County Correctional Facility

Davis Correctional Facility

Diamondback Correctional Facility

Eden Detention Center

Eloy Detention Center

Florence Correctional Center

Houston Processing Center

Annex 4

ADDRESS

11560 Road FF 75
Las Animas, CO 81054-9598

22844 Virginia Blvd.
California City, CA 93505

1155 North Pinal Parkway
Florence, AZ 85232

2000 Cibola Loop
Milan, NM 87021

3700 South Kings Highway
Cushing, OK 74023

1153 North Liberty Street
Nicholls, GA 31554

75 Heath Road
Shelby, MT 59474

6564 State Highway 96

Olney Springs, CO 81062-8700

6888 East 133rd Road
Holdenville, OK 74848-9033

Rt. 2, Box 336
Watonga, OK 73772

Highway 87 East
Eden, TX 76837

1705 East Hanna Road
Eloy, AZ 85231

1100 Bowling Road
Florence, AZ 85232-2667

15850 Export Plaza Drive
Houston, TX 77032



PROPERTY ADDRESS

Huerfano County Correctional Center 304 Ray Sandoval Street
Walsenburg, CO 81089

Kit Carson Correctional Center 49777 County Road V
P.0. Box 309
Burlington, CO 80807

Laredo Processing Center 4702 East Saunders
Laredo, TX 78041

Leavenworth Detention FC 100 Highway Terrace
Leavenworth, KS 66048

Lee Adjustment Center 2648 Fairground Ridge Road
P.0. Box 900
Beattyville, KY 41311-0900

Marion Adjustment Center 95 Raywick Road
P.0. Box 10
St. Mary, KY 40063-0010

McRae Correctional Facility 1000 Jim Hammock Drive
P.0. Box 368
McRae, GA 31055

Mineral Wells Pre-Parole Transfer Facility 759 Heintzelman Road
Mineral Wells, TX 76067-9273

New Mexico Women's Correctional Facility 1700 East 0l1d Highway 66
Grants, NM 87020

Otter Creek Adjustment Center Highway 306
P.0. Box 500
Wheelwright, KY 41669-0500

Prairie Correctional Facility 445 South Munsterman Street
Appleton, MN 56208-2608

Queensgate Correctional Center 516 Linn Street
Cincinnati, OH 45203

Shelby Training Center 3420 01d Getwell Road
Memphis, TN 38118-3634

T. Don Hutto Correctional Center 1001 Welch Street
P.0. Box 1063
Taylor, TX 76574



PROPERTY ADDRESS

Tallahatchie County Correctional Facility 295 U.S. Hwy 49 South
P.0. Box 368
Tutwiler, MS 38963

Torrance County Detention Facility County Road 49
P.0. Box 837
Estancia, NM 87016

Webb County Detention Center 9998 S. Hwy 83
Laredo, TX 78046-8449

West Tennessee Detention Facility 6299 Finde Naifeh Jr. Drive
Mason, TN 38049

Wheeler Correctional Facility 1100 North Broad Street
P.0. Box 466
Alamo, GA 30411

Whiteville Correctional Center 1440 Union Springs Road
Whiteville, TN 38075

Corporate Office Building 10 Burton Hills Boulevard
Nashville, TN 37215



Annex 5
NEW PRICING GRID

Annex A
PRICING GRID FOR REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS, SWING LINE LOANS
AND TRANCHE C TERM LOANS
Consolidated Leverage Applicable Margin for Eurodollar Loans Applicable Margin for Base Rate Loans Commitment Fee
Ratio Rate
Tranche C Term Revolving Credit Tranche C Term Revolving Credit
Loans Loans and Swing Loans Loans and Swing
Line Loans Line Loans
> 4,00 2.75% 3.50% 1.75% 2.50% 50%
< 4.00 and >3.50 2.50% 3.25% 1.50% 2.25% 50%
< 3.50 and >3.00 2.50% 3.00% 1.50% 2.00% 50%
< 3.00 2.50% 2.75% 1.50% 1.75% 375%

Changes in the Commitment Fee Rate and the Applicable Margin with respect to
Tranche C Term Loans, Revolving Credit Loans and Swing Line Loans resulting from
changes in the Consolidated Leverage Ratio shall become effective on the date
(the "Adjustment Date") on which financial statements are delivered to the
Lenders pursuant to Section 6.1 (but in any event not later than the 45th day
after the end of each of the first three quarterly periods of each fiscal year
or the 90th day after the end of each fiscal year, as the case may be) and shall
remain in effect until the next change to be effected pursuant to this
paragraph. If any financial statements referred to above are not delivered
within the time periods specified above, then, until such financial statements
are delivered, the Consolidated Leverage Ratio as at the end of the fiscal
period that would have been covered thereby shall for the purposes of this
definition be deemed to be greater than 4.0 to 1.0. In addition, at all times
while an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio shall for the purposes of this definition be deemed
to be greater than 4.0 to 1.0. Each determination of the Consolidated Leverage
Ratio pursuant to this definition shall be made with respect to the period of
four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrower ending at the end of the period
covered by the relevant financial statements.



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CEO PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-15 AND 15d-15
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John D. Ferguson, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of
Corrections Corporation of America;

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
quarterly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other
financial information included in this quarterly report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are
responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and
procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in
which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's
disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this quarterly report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this quarterly
report based on such evaluation; and

c) disclosed in this quarterly report any change
in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have
disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):



Date:

a)

b)

November 13, 2003

all significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that
involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ John D. Ferguson

John D. Ferguson
President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CFO PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-15 AND 15d-15
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Irving E. Lingo, Jr., certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of
Corrections Corporation of America;

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
quarterly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other
financial information included in this quarterly report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are
responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and
procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in
which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's
disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this quarterly report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this quarterly
report based on such evaluation; and

c) disclosed in this quarterly report any change
in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have
disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):



Date:

a)

b)

November 13, 2003

all significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that
involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Irving E. Lingo, Jr.

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, Assistant Secretary and Principal
Accounting Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Corrections Corporation of America
(the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2003 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"),
I, John D. Ferguson, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company .

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

/s/ John D. Ferguson

John D. Ferguson

President and Chief Executive Officer
November 13, 2003



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Corrections Corporation of America
(the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2003 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"),
I, Irving E. Lingo, Jr., Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company .

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

/s/ Irving E. Lingo, Jr.
Irving E. Lingo, Jr.
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
November 13, 2003



